

Ezafus,

## Changing the social dialogue through education: the experiment of Italian students in the Liceo Scientifico Statale E. Majorana

A Research Paper

by:

Fulvia Mastrocesare

S664423

in partial fulfilment of the requirements for obtaining the degree of MASTER OF ARTS IN DEVELOPMENT STUDIES

Major:

**GDP** 

Supervisor:

Sunil Tankha

Second Reader:

Rodrigo Mena Fluhmann

# The Hague, The Netherlands December 2023

Wordcount: 17500

In this research paper we will explore the conceptualization that young minds have of Italian past and its connection to modern issues of racism and immigration, analysed through the lens of education. By exploring the Italian context, a particular emphasis will be placed on how it is understood, taught and remembered by the people, and its role in shaping collective memory and identity. To do so, a "before and after" knowledge intervention will set the ground to understand the change in the quality of the discourse. It will touch upon some of the most engrained Italian myths and discourses, to later explore its instrumentalization in today's far-right agenda. The importance of the topic is to be found in the fact that social understanding, beliefs and perceptions can be changed, provided in-depth information. The main findings of the study show a significant change in the quality of the social dialogues among the students, towards a more critical and humane view the presented topics.

#### **Keywords**:

Colonialism, education, collective memory, social dialogue, information, Italy

## **Table of Contents**

A	1_	_	4	_	_	_
Α	.D	S	ιr	а	C	ι

1.Introduction	5
1.1 Nature of the problem	5
1.2 Case Study Context	7
1.3 Research Question	8
1.4 Objective of the research	8
1.5 Justification and relevance of research	9
2. Italian context for the experiment	10
2.1 Italiani Brava Gente: setting the discourse	10
2.2 Italy: a unique case of (non)decolonization	12
2.3. Immigration from Oltremare	13
3. Current state of debate	17
3.1 Colonial past and textbook knowledge	17
3.2 History education and public discourse	18
4. Conceptual Framework	20
4.1 Conceptualization of the (colonial) past	20
4.2 The construction of the Other and its discourse	21
4.3 Confirmation bias	22
4.4 Cognitive Dissonance	23
5. Methodology	26
5.1 Research design	26
5.2 Limitations	29
5.3 Ethical challenges	30
5.4 Positionality within the research	31
6. Results and analysis	34
6.1 General Understanding of Colonialism	34
6.2 Italian Role	36
6.3 Italiani Brava Gente	38
6.4 Immigration	40
6.5 A shift in the wording: language analysis	42
6.6 A glimpse into the history textbook	43

7. Discussion and findings	44
8. Conclusion	46
Reference list	49
Appendix	55

#### Acknowledgements

I would like to dedicate this MA Research Paper to my country for its flaws, taboos and for giving me the ground to dive into a topic that I did not know I would have enjoyed so much.

A great share of my gratitude goes to Liceo Scientifico Statale Ettore Majorana, in particular to my history teacher Prof. Vitiello, to her colleagues, and to all the enthusiastic students from 5AL, 5Es, 5Cs, 5Ds, 5Bs, without whom this experiment would have not been possible.

Then, I would like to thank my parents for always providing me the space to babble about my research, and my sister for being the perfect guinea pig and assisting me during the fieldwork.

I would also like to thank my friends for brainstorming with me and for keeping a smile on my face.

Lastly, I would love to thank Francesco and Bub for their immense support, perspective, and love.

#### Disclaimer:

This document represents part of the author's study programme while at the International Institute of Social Studies. The views stated therein are those of the author and not necessarily those of the Institute.

#### Inquiries:

International Institute of Social Studies P.O. Box 29776 2502 LT The Hague The Netherlands

t: +31 70 426 0460 e: info@iss.nl w: www.iss.nl

fb: http://www.facebook.com/iss.nl

twitter: @issnl

#### Location:

Kortenaerkade 12 2518 AX The Hague The Netherlands

## 1.0 Introduction

#### 1.1 Nature of the problem

"...but we were never as bad..." is the discourse that is still reproduced and perpetuated in the minds of Italian people when they are asked about the colonial role of Italy in Africa. This narrative is the representation of a larger phenomenon that represents the raw reality in the country. The starting point of this research is to be found in personal experience as an Italian student and citizens that has been exposed to the reality of Italian colonialism only years later, during the seeking of the bachelor's degree. Many questions followed this realisation trying to understand how it was possible that a part of history so crucial was thought to students so superficially and dismissively in history textbooks. Is this affecting how I, and students view the colonial past of my country, and the world around us? Would our attitudes towards colonialism change given more information? All these questions had served as foundations to identify the research problem for this piece.

The country diverges considerably from other European fellows regarding the way in which colonial discourse of history is presented, remembered, and thought. Some of them have embarked the process of coming to terms with the past, practising the culture of Erinnerungskultur – "culture of remembrance" (Helfer 2021,79). Others, like Italy, have been characterised by a period of collective amnesia, leaving the country free from any type of public accountability (Lombardi-Diop and Romeo 2012, 5). Many are the factors that allowed Italians to lack this burden in their construction of a national identity. In first place, the "spectacular failure" in many of their colonial conquests, like in Ethiopia (Ghiglione 2020). Secondly, the abrupt end of a short era of Italian colonialism, marked by the loss of its colonies following the peace treaty of 1947 of WW2 (Su La Testa 2022). This has allowed the country to avoid undergoing all the decolonizing processes and anticolonial struggles that followed that period (Ibid). Therefore, the basis for the post-war construction of an Italian identity mainly revolved around acclaiming the acts of resistance and fight against fascism (Ibid). Differently from many postcolonial countries, Italy has witnessed a lack of eminent voices of intellectuals that were challenging the role of the country and its crime during colonial times (Ghiglione 2020). This is not to say that the topic of colonialism was erased from collective memory - if it did not involve Italy, the topic was adequately debated in public environment and politics (Ibid).

Italians' conceptualization of their past includes a vision that sees Italy having a marginal and non-harmful presence in the colonial era, especially when compared to other countries, which derives from a severe lack of colonial discourse and surrounding debate in the public scene. Its impact is undeniable: it has caused Italian society to never acknowledge historical wrongdoings or face the consequences of their presence in the colonies, while reinforcing this engrained image of *Italiani Brava Gente*—good-hearted people—free of any moral obligation (Del Boca 1998,591). Such an image, that encapsulates how Italian conceptualises their colonial past, is perpetuated across the social fabric and reproduced through institutions: for example, in the political discourse by far-right parties like Fratelli di Italia and Lega Nord or through the education system and its curriculums. Education represents one of the biggest tools through which subjects are shaped and formed. It plays a crucial role in the formation of their national identity, values and beliefs, which are all elements that guide individuals when operating in the surrounding world and are at the base of social interactions.

Therefore, there is a need to understand how the way of teaching colonial history can influence the understanding of students regarding the colonial past and the role of their country. From a broader perspective this problem, the way Italians are educated about colonial history, has not only repercussions on the conceptualization of their past, but it is also linked/connected to the way in which they understand other modern issues, such as integration, immigration, diversity, that find common components rooted back in the colonial conquest (Unangst and Martinez Aleman 2021,5). The example employed for this research will be race and racism: key elements in both colonialism and immigration (Ibid). Such connection with the highly debated issue of immigration will be later touched upon in the research, in order to provide the reader with a holistic overview. Therefore, the research will aim at investigating the colonial knowledge of students through a before and after experiment to assess the conceptualization of such a past given a certain discourse, created through the educational system.

#### 1.2 Case Study Context

This experiment, conducted in 5 classes of the Liceo Scientifico Majorana, will represent the case study for this investigation. Before proceeding, this paragraph will provide some key information in order to set the context for such case study. In particular, presenting some useful insight into the structure and functioning of the educational system in the context of Italy. The secondary level of education is divided into three types of schools: *Istituti* Tecnici, Istituti Professionali and Licei (Miur 2018). The former are secondary school systems that are imprinted on a more practical oriented process. These formational schools educate students on hands-on skills and workshops activities tailored for a professional career into the main economic sectors of the country (Ibid). The latter aim at providing students with an indepth cultural and methodological understanding of reality, while developing critical and creative thinking (Ibid). The lyceums are provided with different tracks that students can choose from, each of them revolving around a particular theme: Liceo Artistico, Classico, Linguistico, Musicale, Scienze Umane and Scientifico (Ibid). The Scientific Lyceum will provide context of analysis for the research of the paper. According to national guidelines provided by the Italian Ministry of education, there are some "thematic objectives" in each subject that students must be acquainted with (Miur 2012). In the discipline of History, the guidelines state how: "it is useful and desirable to pay attention to themes such as "non-European countries" conquered by European colonialism between '700 and '800 (Ibid).

An assessment of the context in which this research is going to take place will be provided in order to situate the study. The institute of interest is Liceo Scienentifico Statale Ettore Majorana. It is a public secondary school founded in 1971 as a complementary track for an already existing High School, from which it then officially separated becoming its own independent self. They preach the rule of the three "I": Innovation, Inclusion and Internationality, according to their website (La scuola, *n.d.*). This secondary school hosts 1186 students that are aged between 14 and 19 years old. The choice of this Liceo is to be connected to a personal motive, as it is the institution that I attended, during my five years of secondary education. Further, the classrooms investigated for the experiment are being selected according to the following criteria: (i) they are "Classi di Quinto", meaning in their final year of schooling, (ii) they have a fair distribution of female and male students, (iii) they have the same history and philosophy teacher, so that the curriculum taught remains consistent. The institution is located in the Lazio region, more specifically in Rome, in the

heart of the Spinaceto district name. The city of 2.8 million residents counts 13,4% of foreign residents (TuttiItalia.it 2021). The Spinaceto area in particular, is part of the IX *Municipio*, the 9<sup>th</sup> Municipal area in which Rome is divided, where only 8.8% of the residents are of foreign origins (Roma Capitale). Even if the Lazio region, is the second most populated region in the country, it only accounts for 10% of the country's economic power.

#### 1.3 Research question

This research poses its roots into a far bigger dilemma, that is unravelling how the past is conceptualised and taught, influences the present. The vastness of such a problem necessitates the focus on a particular strand, which is the interpretation that young people have of the colonial era and the links they make between this era and modern society based on what they learn through the schooling system. The lens of analysis that this paper will employ, will be educational policy and the following research question will serve to guide the process.

#### Research Question:

How does (secondary) students' understanding/conceptualization of their colonial past change as they engage with new historical information on Italian colonialism, in the case of Liceo Scientifico Statale E. Majorana?

#### 1.4 Objective of the research

Given the ambitiousness and intricacy of the problem in focus, the objective of the following research will be to understand the power of education, through a knowledge intervention and the consequent study of the reaction of students to in-depth information about the topic. More specifically, it will analyse how the quality of the social discourse of high school students around their understanding of colonialism, changes after providing reliable and additional text information.

#### 1.5 Justification and relevance of research

The relevance of this study is to be revealed as follows. It pivots around obtaining new data on the current conceptualization of young students of their colonial past and possible changes in the quality of their social understanding. Such data can shed light on two aspects. On a more positive side, it shows that the political and social discourse surrounding Italian colonialism and immigration can indeed be changed with the introduction of new information provided through readings, in a given social context, such as the school classroom. On a more negative side, it has revealed that it can also take more time to change the pre-established discourse, rather than a short-term knowledge intervention. This means that if we were to change the social understanding throughout generations of Italians it would take a longer framework of time. Moreover, it has also demonstrated how volatile discourse can be: it can always change to its origin, and it can be stirred as easily. It can become a dangerous yet powerful tool, through which political parties can create their own politically charged discourses about the Italian colonial past.

The lens through which the problem will be approached, namely educational policy, provides a new route through which the topic has not been yet explored. It will reveal the repercussions that a lack of discourse on colonial history has on a hot topic that dominates the current foreign and internal policy of the country: migratory flows, in terms of perceptions and prejudices towards the latter, considering the insight provided by young students. This will include the deconstruction of what it means to be "Italian" through the eyes of the young population. Education represents one of the roads through which a country constructs and perpetuates their national identity, in order to construct a collective memory (Chun 2018, 571). Analysing the way history is portrayed and represented in curriculums and textbooks provides an insight into the country's perspective on such a past (Ibid).

## 2.0 Italian context for the experiment

With the following section we shall then set the ground to understand the conceptualization of the colonial past in the minds of Italians. This will be done by exploring the image of the Italian Coloniser within the current public discourse, while providing an overview on the ongoing immigration discourse and its connections with colonial memory. Such a step will allow us to understand where the current understanding of those students comes from and to shed light on how the current conceptualization and image is still present and reflected into modern issues of Italian society. Most importantly, it will provide clarification on how the historical narrative of Italian colonialism has been portrayed in the public discourse.

#### 2.1 Italiani Brava Gente: setting the discourse

The discourse surrounding the politics of memory has been deeply shaped by the nation state (Fuchs and Otto 2013, 3). Although it is crucial to understand how this process does not only relate to "official forms" through which the state engages with its past. At a larger scale it includes all the actors that are somewhere involved in the "strategic" action of politics of memory and identity building (Ibid). Nowadays, Europe with many of its countries has embarked on a slow process of recognising their colonial past and trying to "increased awareness that they are de facto postcolonial societies of immigration" (Fuchs and Otto 2013, 2). To understand the present is crucial to unravel how each nation state has constructed their identity while engaging with the past and its colonial legacy. In the context of Italy, the colonial discourse relates to the notions of race and racism, in a way that they become significantly problematic due to the country's history, while preventing any space for public discussions on race privilege and past accountability (Unangst and Martínez Alemán 2021, 142). Differently from other Imperialist powers, Italians were never held accountable for their colonial past, in the sense that their role in the colonial undertaking was never openly condemned, especially in the public debate (Ben-Ghiat 2007,390). Nonetheless, like in many other cases of former colonial nations, the absence from public debates of their colonial history has fostered a lack of any psychological or legal consequence and repercussion for such matters (Ibid). Therefore, moving towards the construction and reinforcement of a self-perception as good-hearted people, while permitting historical oblivion on the atrocities of the past (Ibid, 391).

Before moving any further, a separated section must provide some context for the myth of "Italiani Brava Gente" and the notion of Italianness to understand the implications of what it means to be a "true Italian". The premises for this myth are rooted back into a narrative that became more prominent during the Fascist era, when the country strengthened its domination over its colonies (LSE 2020). The characterising element of Italian colonisation was indeed the element of racism (Ibid). Here, the image of the ruthless British or French soldiers, created and spread among Italian society, was juxtaposed to a compassionate and benign compatriot soldier, bearer of new values (Ibid). One of the biggest obstacles towards an increased awareness of the past, while developing a critical memory of it, is rooted in the collective construction and perpetuation of the myth of Italians as "good-hearted people" (Ibid). This is one of the stereotypes that is most radically ingrained into the Italian understanding of its colonial vicissitudes. This narrative is constituted by a group selfrepresentation based on the ideology that sees the Italian as an individual, whose nature is cultured and kind (Lancellotti 2020). Therefore, he is unable to commit any kind of atrocious crime, and he is always compassionate towards enemies—most importantly, immune to racism (Ibid). As a matter of fact, this self-perception of a "humane and benevolent" Italian coloniser, exporting culture and building infrastructure, would be representative of a larger discourse that seeks to justify the civilising mission of white men (Lancellotti 2020). Forging of a homogenous national identity is the result of a union between these collective myths and memories. The identity that results out of this, establishes a fundamental dichotomy that divides the population between "pure Italians" and "half-caste" Italians (Triulzi 2006, 433).

A significant space must be given to understand the role that power plays in constructing the "public representation of history" (Festinger 1962). Such power is to different degrees retained by the education systems and mass media in our modern society (Liu and Hilton 2005, 540). Here, a selected group of professionals, educated through the schooling system, can stir public opinion through the use of mass and social media and other means (Ibid). Nonetheless it is important to distinguish two kinds of professionals that have the power to "lay representation of history": on one hand there are historians and political scientists and on the other, politicians (Ibid,541). Differently from the former group, politicians will base the representation of historical facts on persuading the public opinion, rather than scientific research, in order to legitimise a certain action (Ibid, 541).

#### 2.2 Italy: a unique case of (non) decolonization

Italian colonialism represents one of the most hidden episodes in the country's, and its colonial memory still finds difficulties in earning its rightful place in modern debates. Yet, compared to other colonial rule, its dominance was, and still is, considered less atrocious, less racist and more progressive. The pressing question remains: Why is Italy considered an anomalous case? The answer to this is to be found in the country's uniqueness in the process of decolonization compared to other former powers in Europe, and its lateness in coming to terms with its past. With the demise of the colonial empires, many countries experienced a slow process of decolonization, causing a breach into the social fabric due to the need to reflect atrocities of the colonial era (De Michele 2011, 105). Nonetheless, in Italy such a process did not seem to have the same effect: the "vicissitudes" in the conquest of Africa were largely not condemned by public opinion, rather still looked at with a positive outlook and a charitable eye (Ibid). Its decolonization was not the result of a forced process pushed by independence movements scattered among former colonies (Ibid). Indeed, the country did not transform into the final destination for many of the people migrating from its ex-colonies (Lombardi-Diop and Romeo 2014,4). This means that Italy did not undergo a consequent change in demographics of the post-colonial period (Ibid). The process of decolonization started only due to the country's loss of World War II and when Allies took away the colonies from them (De Michele 2011, 105). Several mitigating factors seem to infringe upon condemning these events. Firstly, the widespread understanding of the Italian conquest as smaller therefore, less destructive, and less racist: a clear reinforcement of the current self-image of a "colonialism that was different" (Ibid, 107). The administrative law in place in colonies and the experience of the Madamato, a temporary relation between an Italian citizen and a native (colonised) woman, are only few examples that confound this vision (Gabrielli 1997, 78). Secondly, the presence of many "positive effects" on conquered countries. The development of agriculture, industrialization, infrastructure, and bureaucracy are only some of the cited improvements that classify this chapter in the history of the country as different (Ibid)).

This was clearly reflected in educational manuals, where chapters of European imperialism are thoroughly explored and criticised: the Belgian, German, French, Spanish empires always find exhaustive explicative paragraphs in history textbooks (Ibid, 108). Contrarily, Italian colonial expansionism does not seem to find space in the books, where it is either depicted as "different" and less influential or as a marginal episode in the sequence of

events. Its anomaly resiles in the tardive expansion, compared to many European powers, supported by few poor resources, at times unorganised and dilettantish. This vision often overshadows the main pillar that allows to elevate the Italian conquest at the same level of other colonial rules: the brutal slavery and dehumanisation of subjugated populations in this relationship of coloniser/colonised, together with the destructive force of profound exploitation (Ibid).

#### 2.3 Immigration from *Oltremare*

Especially during Fascist times, the construction of the colonial Other by prominent figures such as Mussolini, De Bono, Starace and many others, played a fundamental role in the justification for a "transplant of civilization" and legitimation for colonial invasions. Unfortunately, this is not a trend that can be buried in a faraway chapter of Italian history. Nowadays, with the new security and integration crisis several power-holding figures such leaders and political parties have been leading the way of a "distorted representation of the Italian past" (Griffini 2022, 479). A clear example is portrayed by the anti-immigration campaign and the propaganda glorifying the "imperial past", that the radical right parties have been spreading ever since. Analysing the memory of cardinal parties in the country's political arena, such Fratelli di Italia, Lega Nord, Forza Italia have of the Italian past, showcases a racially driven nationalism discourse coloured by national identity that is grounded onto a "sanitised representation of its past", where only some (positive) elements are chosen to be remembered and glorified (Ibid, 481).

Italy has been characterised by an ongoing paradox that is everyday more evident: a changing demographic landscape. On one side there is an increasing racist and xenophobic attitude, that is revealed through public opinion, against the incoming migration flows (Dal Lago 2010, 6). On the other, the exponential increase of the latter, in a small-time framework (Ibid,7). In less than ten years the number of immigrants coming to the shores of Italy has jumped from barely 1.5 million to more than 4 million (Ibid,7). Many are the instances where the image of the immigrants has undergone through a criminalising and inferiorization process of "Othering", depicted in rhetoric of far-right parties as "threats to Italian identity" (Ibid,2). These processes find their similarities with the discourses used during colonial times to invade the colonies, where the "Other"- colonised - was framed as the grotesque problem that needed to be controlled (Faso 2015,183; Griffini 2022, 483). The "Superiority of the Western civilization" (144) cited by the former Prime Minister from Forza Italia, Silvio Berlusconi, in

the context of supporting the US lead occupation of Iraq and Afghanistan, uncovers familiarity with the colonial rhetoric and the creation of a "dangerous enemy" (Favero 2010, 144).

During these last few years, the narrative carried out by notorious media platforms and relevant public figures, has been facilitating closed-minded and distrustful perceptions towards immigrants (Asgi 2022). With the rise of a populist wave, Italy has seen members and leaders of far-right parties construct and perpetuate to the public a narrative that criminalizes those who "come into our country to steal our jobs and freedom"—the immigrants (Griffini 2022, 8). Parties such as Lega and Fratelli di Italia have been at the forefront of these anti-immigration rhetoric, where there is a widespread belief that immigration increases rape, theft, diseases, drug dealing activities and many others (Ibid,9). Particularly worrying is the kind of exclusionary rhetoric that is employed by key figures leading the country; the current Prime Minister Giorgia Meloni is an example. The PM's discourse has been characterized by a more subtle and yet effective manner of constructing and fostering this distorted framing. Recurring words such as "us vs them", "different", "invasion", "Islamification", "danger" are at the base of the dialectics used in her promotional campaign (Il Manifesto 2018). Often episodes of rape or killing become the bastions of this propaganda. They are strategically posted in the PM's social media account and highlighting the foreign nationality of the perpetrators (Associazione Carta di Roma 2022). Another example is represented by the Vice President of the Council of Ministers of Italy, Matteo Salvini, who has taken a more direct approach. In many interviews has been caught openly evoking "controlled ethnic cleansing" and "burning down all detention centres" (Panorama 2017).

Media platforms serve as a mirror, reflecting the trends of the political arena. The narrative finds itself divided into two typologies: on one side the banalization of systemic racism and xenophobia, on the other the criminalization of these people (Associazione Carta di Roma 2022). Major outlets such as Il Messaggero, La Repubblica, never cease to specify the nationality of the violators, in cases where the latter are foreigners (Ibid). Many newspapers, rather play with disturbing titles like "emergenza stranieri" or "porte aperte al prossimo stupratore" (Ibid). Others, like La Verità, have been caught reporting false news: more than 2/5 of the rapes in the country are by the hand of foreigners (Ibid). These considerations provide ground for reflection on the kind of example that is being set for the Italian citizens.

Two major instances are fundamental to understanding the current legacy of colonialism and of race-based systems (Juang, Schwarzenthal, Aral, and Pevec 2022, 13). Firstly, the implementation and perpetuation of the racial law—based on the belief of the existence of a pure race, superior to all others and secondly, the legacy of colonial rule that still shows its consequences on today's socio, political and cultural context (Ibid). The present racist system of perception is perpetuated through the constructions of selfreinforcing myths such as the Oltremare—over there. It embodies one the many debates that products of the colonial legacy were simply "swept under the rug". This myth is a representation of how the construction of a far "Other" was depicted in order to juxtapose the construction of a pure national and cultural identity of the Italian state (Griffini 2022, 3). The historical nostalgia for a "great past" was used as a tool to claim the need to go back to a time where the Italian identity had not been contaminated by the Other—nowadays used on immigrants (Ibid,4). This rhetoric has resulted to be significantly harmful in terms of social, political and economic inclusion of minorities, while reinforcing an ethnic and cultural racism in the country (Ibid, 3). During colonial times, the figures of the colonized Other was a necessary element to co-constitute the Italian identity. With the fall of Fascism and the shift into modern times, the figure of the colonial Other has been replaced by the immigrant Other (LSE 2020).

This construction of the Other, delineates a narrative based on the dichotomy of belonging. Here, two groups are formed. Those who are considered ethnically Italians—the ingroup, and those who are not—the outgroup. The latest survey conducted by Pew Research has revealed how, compared to most of the European countries, Italy finds itself having the highest percentage of hateful answers towards the topic of immigration- 38% (Asgi 2022,2). This picture is just a snapshot into the diffused and deeply rooted racism that dismays the country. Nationality and skin color remain the two main factors enablers of racist attitudes and discrimination (Ibid). Nonetheless, numbers help navigate an inequality existing within this pressing issue: there are some groups of immigrants that are more stigmatized and marginalized compared to others.

The Osservatorio Sul Nord Est (2019) reports that 72% of Rom people, 60% of Muslim people and people of color, specifically from Sub-Saharan and North Africa are the top three groups majorly at risk of experiencing racism. Moreover, another significant differentiation is to be made in terms of semantics: whether you are classified as

Extracomunitario or Expat. They are both groups formed by people that have left their origin country to seek a better life in a new reality, yet their experiences in the new land are quite different. The former, refers to a category of immigrant people who come from outside the European Union. There is a salient difference between the two. The "Extracomunitario", a once upon a time neutral term, now withholds a negative connotation for someone who is an "outsider to the community" (Andall 1990, 153). The pejorative meaning that gets attached to this word dehumanizes the individual who is carrying that label (Lenius 2014). Such terminology is often associated with an illegal dimension of the immigration status — clandestine — and used to express an immigrant involved in criminal activities (Solano 2014, 3). Whereas the term Expat, refers to a group of non-European immigrants, but holding Western values and norms. For that, they are believed to be educated, from a wealthy economic background, that usually emigrate due to high collar opportunities or to study, therefore worthy of being an "insider in the community". The narrative that is created by this division created the image of good and bad immigrants, who will be treated accordingly to this label (Natella 2015).

#### 3.0 Current state of academic debate

There is a significant, yet conflicting way through which countries come to terms with their past and how they perpetuate a certain connection with them. Some take the route of collective memory, where its connection with the past is strong and vivid, crowned by a common sense of fear of forgetting. The "never again" philosophy is the mantra for what the country wants to encourage: a self-definition process to explain the present - where they are now. Others decide to establish a type of connection that resembles an "collective amnesia and nostalgia", based on highlighting the greatness of this lost past, with its achievements, discoveries, while shing away from the atrocities

#### 3.1 Colonial past and textbook knowledge

How the past is approached is one of the key elements in understanding and shaping the cultural identity of a nation (Wertsch 1997). As highlighted by Wertsch (1997), history cannot be considered as an objective tool that can report the events of the past accurately and unbiasedly. It is rather one of the most significant and effective instruments to influence and construct an individual's ideas, views and emotions that constitute the foundations for the everyday role that citizens have in "voting, going to war or paying taxes" (Ibid, 6). Therefore, the teaching of history, its content, and ways through which it is thought exerts a great deal of influence on the perception that individuals have on the present and on their identity. Education is representing the mirror that reflects how a society wants to be portrayed. For this reason, De Michele (2006) highlights how through the analysis of past educational policy the connection between the past and present of the country of Italy and the construction of its national identity can come to the surface. Her latest work of 2011, cites how the content of history books pertaining to the past war era, remains crucial in the way colonial history is perpetuated, as it provides future generations of students the main link to connect them with past events. Investigating how post-war educational books depict colonialism can be revealing regarding the persistence of stereotypes and a mystified perception of the colonial events (Ibid). But what relations do Italians have with their past history? Its colonial memory represents a topic that is not very debated, yet it is highly controversial. Bianchi and Scego (2014), might say that colonial and imperial history that resiles in collective memory of Italian society is almost forgotten, if not absent. Others, like Ben-Ghiat and Fuller (2006), advocate for a colonial

memory that has been fiercely suppressed. The authors Leone and Mastrovito (2010) associate this attitude as one of the many coping mechanisms for perpetrators of violence, where Italy is the most salient case. Azada-Palacios (2022) notes the current trend into the academic world in debates to understand how during the past two decades educational curriculums have been used as a vehicle to install and a sense of national identity and values into the minds of students and how that has shaped the rise of nationalist and far-right movements.

A first sign of the relation between past and present is evident in the fact that topics such as colonialism, coming to terms with the past and admitting responsibility, are still a topic of heated discussion. In the astonishing work of Del Boca (2003), he recognizes a lack of discourse on colonial past and the role Italy has played, especially in "taking a piece of the cake" in Africa. Its involvement has for long been put aside or distorted, to the point that literature regarding such a topic was close to non-existing up until the late seventies (Ibid). Nonetheless several are the voices of scholars that have embarked on the process of analyzing history textbooks for Italian education. Some of the scholars have focused on how historical events are presented. Tappi and Leoni (2010) together with De Michele (2006) stress how there is a certain uniformity in the way through which the experience of colonialism is narrated. The first colonial experience of the country is briefly mentioned, and it is characterized by textbooks that still contribute towards depicting the image of Italian colonizer as a magnanimous individual. His duty towards colonies was to bring positive change, cultural and technological advancement to those uncivilized territories (Ibid). Novati (2003) in his research, takes a step forward and demonstrates how there is an underlying commonality on which the past of colonies is narrated: the "colonial outlook" of these educational manuals. This is evident in the lack of a section that presents the point of view of the colonized populations. The colonial approach follows the vicissitude of kings, military men, explorers, colonizers but the voice to the colonized is never considered.

#### 3.2 History education and public discourse

Since the invention of the printing system, society has been relying on knowledge that was inscribed and transcribed through books and texts in general (Luke, De Castell and Luke 1983,113). In the realm of education, this knowledge takes up the name of curricular knowledge, which refers to the package of information that is transmitted every day in the

setting of the classroom, especially through manuals and schoolbooks (Ibid, 114). Even if the historical times change and the institutional approach to it mutates, school text always remains the official knowledge of reference for societies (Ibid). Rydren (2007) stresses the importance of how people are collectively educated on their past history because it creates links between beliefs and what people consider historically relevant. In contrast, it provides a space to comprehend the magnitude to which new acquired information can impact the pre-established myths and narratives (Ibid). Similarly Foster (2011) shows that information taught during history classes contain shapes the collective understanding of students and their historical knowledge. The schooling system plays a fundamental role in shaping social discourse, which allows students to form their perspective and views, and change their understanding (Luke, De Castell and Luke 1983,114). Andall (1990) further emphasises that shedding light on the how a country's colonial legacy is taught trough education, reveals to be a crucial asset in order to understand the attitudes that citizens have towards foreigners and people with different ethnic backgrounds, and the public discourses that are created around such perceptions. The public discourse and the derived social relationships of people within a society are greatly influenced by history education (Korostelina 2008,25). The latter supports the creation of a shared space and a feeling of belonging to the nation (Ibid,26). Moreover, the ethnocultural essence of a society is based on how connections between different groups are shaped by such history (Ibid). It would be not too far of a stretch to assess that History portrayed in books could represent one of the greatest vehicles to (re)transform and (re)shape official knowledge (Ibid, 26).

## 4.0 Conceptual Framework

The following conceptual framework will aid the reader in comprehending the main concepts that are at the core of this investigation. Such concepts find their most usage in the realm of different disciplines, such as psychology, medical studies, nonetheless in this case they will be utilized to support the understanding of how the social discourse in the classroom changes, providing new knowledge.

#### 4.1 Conceptualization of the (colonial) past

The past has two main characteristics: it can be found anywhere, and it is irreversible and unchangeable (Seixas 1998, 736). As a result, what humans have to face is not the past itself, rather traces of it. The presentation and representation of the past are examples of these traces (Ibid). As individuals, we are driven by the need to categorize and order these traces of past events in a way that makes sense and in a way that provides meaning to the present context (Ibid). This is also known as historical understanding. Indeed, the latter can be defined as the collection of interpretations, conceptualization of past events, organized in a way that gives meaning to the present and that is systematically under continuous change (Ibid, 737).

Social representations represent a vehicle that enables individuals to make sense and understand the surrounding social phenomena, for example the country's history (Bobowik, Valentim and Licata 2018, 2). These social constructions constitute how the past is represented and embodies a fundamental component for the creation of a group identity and for the society as a whole (Ibid). Cultural values, norms, beliefs are nourished by the collective memory that groups have of them and prescribe normative behaviors between different groups (Ibid). A key element that enables the construction of the social group's identity is the representation of the past that happens through social constructions (Festinger 1962,2). The chapter of colonialism is central for both the social identity of colonizers and colonized groups (Bobowik, Valentim and Licata 2018, 2). Depending on the role of the group, the social representation of this historical past may vary. How these two groups remember the colonial past contributes to the perception and formation of the group's collective identity and behavior towards each other (Ibid). Commemorating notorious colonizing figures as national heroes is just an example of how some social representations establish narratives that see "good and benevolent" colonial rulers, and the role that colonizing group played in the matter (Ibid,3). For this reason,

unravelling the way in which the past is understood and conceptualized, especially destructive and extremely violent events such as colonialism, is crucial in order to understand contemporary issues of racism, xenophobia, conflict biases etc (Licata and Volpato 2010, 6). The conceptualization of the colonial past can be defined as the bridge that connects those present issues with ways of representing, operating and thinking about such past events (Ibid). Such understanding of the past has a great influence on the present. It moulds and shapes the collective identities of groups that were directly and indirectly involved and their social dynamics (Ibid, 7). A naturalisation process of such social dynamics is triggered when these relationships are not explored, rather taken as universal true values/realities (Ibid, 8).

#### 4.2 The construction of the Other and its discourse

A fundamental characteristic of political discourses, beliefs and attitudes towards certain social groups in the setting of the European arena, has been the countries' colonial history (Givens 2020, 520). As well known, many European countries were implicated in the imperial and colonial conquest of territories off sea, in establishing their presence and power over (Ibid). Many of these colonized territories could not see their independence from their colonizers before the treaties that followed the end of the Second World War (Ibid,521). These colonial histories represent a key in the framing of social and political discourse for salient topics and issues such as immigration, nation state and ethnicity (Ibid).

The two notions of nationalism and ethnicity represent one the antagonist of the other, as framed in the latest debates. The political nature as of which the notion of nationalism is conceived, is considerably recent (Hobsbawm and Kertzer 1992, 4). It lies upon the notion according to which groups of individuals, who gathered together obtain the label of nation, have therefore are entitled to establish a sovereign state, rule over a defined area of territory while exercising control over the latter (Ibid). Without the latter base, the concept of nationalism would not find its significance. If one is to view nationalism as a political program, that would include a politically unifying process through which the population or group of individuals living in these territories must be made into the official inhabitants (Ibid,5). It is here where their national identity, official language and common history are combined to form something that was not existing before, it was rather constructed into being (Ibid). The acclaimed sentence by D'Azeglio: "We have made Italy: now we must make Italians" perfectly encapsulates this process of forced formation (Favero 2010,143). It is in this process that the

notion of ethnicity comes into play (Hobsbawm and Kertzer 1992, 4). Nationalism needs to link a nation with a particular ethnicity, derives from this inescapable division that creates between who is part of this group and who is not (Ibid). The Us vs the other dilemma finds its strengths in making itself the core identity of a nation identity (Ibid). It is funded by this segregation.

The relentless search for the construction of a racial Other is what has been articulating the definition of the European self. In the context of Italy, whether the immigrant, the colonized or the "Meridionale"- Southern- there is always a group of people upon which the definition of Italianness is built against (Giuliani 2013, 254). In the public arena a lot of space is given to these discourses as they become focal points for the development of defining concepts of whiteness, Italianness, identity: fundamental in order to frame who belongs to the in-group, but also crucial in this research to understand from where Italian racism develops from (Ibid). With the exponential increase of influxes of migrant and refugees landing in the European shores, the old categorization purely based on race, replaced by new ones based on ascribed characteristics and a moral inferiority, are resurrecting a colonial discourse that gravitates on the white's man and his moral burden (Faso 2015, 183). The new dialogues draw many parallels with colonial frameworks. "We will never be able to civilise them" are among the common phrases that one can hear in regards to the immigrants arriving (Ibid). Here, the constructed Other- the immigrant- is always seen as an active agent only in the context of negative stories or problematic behaviours (Ibid).

#### 4.3 Confirmation bias

In the setting of this knowledge intervention, the concept of information processing constitutes the basis for understanding the development of the experiment. Wickens and Carswell (2021), place the processing of information at the core of societal interaction. The world system in which humans operate, the subjects receive information and then decide to engage accordingly: for example, by accepting the information, rejecting it or to operate according to that information (Ibid, 115). Among these different ways of processing information, we will focus on confirmation bias. It refers to a mostly involuntary process that individuals undergo when they search, select or remember information that continues to reinforce their hypothesis (Pohl 2004,79). This process ensures that all the rest of the information that could potentially refute their understanding or conception, is dismissed (Ibid).

Similarly, in his book, Klayman (1995) established that CB develops at any stage of the hypothesis testing development, therefore he distinguishes between different types of confirmation biases for different stages. A first case is where the way the information obtained is understood is biased itself, supporting the individual hypothesis (Klayman 1995,386). Therefore, the person would classify data in support as trustworthy and data that disproves as unreliable (Ibid). Another case is represented by the search for information that reinforces the present hypothesis, while refraining from any data that could potentially disprove it (Ibid, 387). A last example is the case where even if the individual would like to generate a new hypothesis, moving away from the old one, they have difficulties in doing so, therefore they stick to the old one (Ibid).

Therefore, as Hart (2013) highlighted, humans are inclined into believing statements that confirm their already existing beliefs. Such statements, the more they are repeated and spread and the more they acquire the status of truth within an individual or a society (Ibid, 204). This is also known as validity effect, and it is based on the frequency to which a proposition is repeated (Ibid). The more a statement is met, the more its truth-value increases. Both elements, the confirmation bias and the validity effect, contribute to forming what are known as true values. The rejection of some knowledge while incorporating some other in the existing discourse, leads to the creation "of self-fulfilling truth simply by virtue of itself" (Hart 2013,204). It is a hardship task to then challenge these high true-value claims, which become increasingly more used in human knowledge. This naturalisation process explains how certain claims or beliefs are so deeply entrenched in some social dialogues (Ibid, 205). Therefore, following the presented framework, the selected students for the knowledge intervention ought to be considered as active participants that decide whether or not to accept the historical knowledge presented during the learning process of the knowledge intervention.

### 4.4 Cognitive Dissonance

Wallis (2017) theorises social facts as overarching characteristics of the world around us, that includes norms, values and the institutions that replicate them. Understanding the concept of norms as "a standard of appropriate behaviour for actors with a given identity" (891), sets out the connection between what is socially considered bad or good, therefore defining a justified pattern of human action of "what ought to be" and what is not. These behavioural patterns are collected and organised in what is known as institutions (Ibid). The

present institutions guide the agents by setting out a series of collective practices and rules of behaviors that are appropriate for certain actors in certain settings (Finnemore and Sikkink 2022, 892). Norms undergo through a life cycle, that can be summarised as the following: firstly, a norm emerges and there is an attempt to convince the masses to embrace the new norm, then the norm cascades meaning that there is an attempt to socialise the norm up until the point when the norm is internalised by the masses (Ibid, 896). The underlying assumption of this concept, as elaborated by Festinger (1957), assesses that individuals are driven towards the maintenance of consistency. But when they are presented with situations or norms that are not consistent, they undergo this process of rationalisation in order to reduce this inconsistency—dissonance (Metin and Metin Camgoz 2011, 132).

Another fundamental pillar lies in the fact that the knowledge and understanding that individuals have of this world is indeed an assemblage or package of ideas, facts, values, norms, interactions (Baviskar et al. 2009, 543). If a mismatch is found when comparing, for example, their own package of beliefs with the ones of others, the individual will experience a phenomenon called cognitive dissonance (Ibid). Consequently, the individual faces a crossroad. On one hand they can either choose to refuse the new set of information presented. This would be explained by the fact that people tend to assimilate and seek information that supports previous beliefs or attitudes (Hart 2013,204). On the other they can assimilate them into their knowledge assemblage (Baviskar et al. 2009, 543). The way in which the individual faces this choice falls under the umbrella of process theories. Nonetheless, the permanency of new knowledge can only be assured if the individuals apply it in a new situation where it is validated by peer's feedback (Amineh and Davatgari 2015,14). This means the first instance of cognitive growth actually takes place on a social and not individual level (Ibid).

Festinger (1957) offers a conceptualization of cognitive dissonance. It assumes that individuals are beings who aim at maintaining consistency in their lives. Therefore, when they are faced with a situation where cognitions are opposing each other they try to reduce any dissonance—or inconsistency. This can be done by avoiding situations that cause rupture, as it is psychologically stressful (Metin and Metin Camgoz 2011, 134). Sometimes, in order to reduce that stress and make sense of the dissonance, individuals can also change their cognitive elements or add new ones. Similarly, the element that is causing this dissonance can also be devalued (McKimmie 2015, 202). The dissonance can be found in many instances: knowledge inconsistency, cultural norm or rule, or a dissonance between present and past events (Metin and Metin Camgoz 2011, 134). According to the importance of elements that undergo

dissonance, whether a belief or simple information, the degree of the dissonance varies (Ibid). When deeply ingrained cognitive elements are put into revision, such as beliefs, values or norms, the coping mechanism of dissonance takes place (Bobineau 2017,111). An example of this, is when individuals are presented with incriminating historical facts that are incompatible with the rooted belief they had of those historical facts (Ibid). In the context of colonialism, the negative emotions that are attached to it might serve as a spark in the former colonizing group, a set of group-based emotions such as shame or guilt for the wrongdoing committed in that period. Consequently, to alleviate psychological discomfort generated by such dissonance, they might tend to remember only positive aspects of colonial times, putting a great emphasis into the civilizing mission that brought health, education, democracy etc (Bobowik, Valentim and Licata 2018, 3). A socially constructed idea of the (Italian) past is perpetuated through the social fabric. When this idea does not match with the new information provided, individuals might either undergo a process of cognitive dissonance or experience a process of reinforcement of their pre-existing package of knowledge and beliefs.

## 5.0 Methodology

#### 5.1 Research design

The aim for the experiment- knowledge intervention- is to understand how much change can be done through the introduction of the reading, therefore with new and more indepth information about the topic. Specifically, how a particular intervention can change the social dialogue. In the context of education, the choice of the experiment is justified as the following: interventions allow for a more focused teaching session, on a particular theme, that is different from the mainstream modalities of teaching (Hawthorne 2023). Considering the different types of interventions, this experiment had employed a group setting (Ibid). This research paper has aimed at investigating the above-mentioned research question, where the education, namely new information, is the independent variable and (change) social discourse of the classes is the dependent variable. Qualitative based research was conducted, and it gathered the necessary primary data from qualitative interviewing of students. Such intervention was then applied to the case study of secondary school students of the Liceo Scientifico Statale E.Majorana, in Rome. More specifically the focus was on high school students belonging to the last year of high school (age between 17 and 18). This choice is justified by the fact that the school curriculum, touching upon the modules of "colonial history", is covered in those two years.

The following research design has guided the procedure: 1) The study was centred on a particular segment of students, namely those belonging to the final year of the secondary education cycle. Therefore, only classes of 5<sup>th</sup> grade had been selected for the collaboration. 2) The criteria according to which the students had been selected are (i) they are attending the final year of high school, (ii) they attend the Liceo Scientifico Statale Ettore Majorana (iii) they have the same history and philosophy teacher. Each of the classes hosts between 19 and 22 students. 3) The site where the focus group interviews have taken place in one of the quiet rooms available in the Liceo, suiting the feasibility and comfort of the students.

The setting of the experiment unfolded in the Liceo Scientifico Majorana, a Scientific High School that is situated in the heart of the Spinaceto District, in Rome. For the experiment 5 classes, aged between 17 and 18 years old were interviewed, for a total of 110 students. Nonetheless It is important to consider that being a group interview, not all 110

students engaged directly with the questions. All the students were attending the last year of high school and were selected because during the last year they have studied the module of colonialism in general and a brief introduction on chapter of Italian colonialism. Moreover, the classes had the same history teacher, which ensured some continuity of curriculum content, and for the students to be at the same level of knowledge regarding the topic, throughout the 5 classes. The selected tool to conduct the investigation was an experiment based on a "before and after" knowledge intervention, to see immediate change in the dialogue of the students. To assess the latter, a setting of 5 focus groups (one in each class) was organized for several reasons: firstly because of its group element, that permitted it to create an informal and more serene conversation. This created a horizontal relationship, rather than vertical, reducing the distance between the researcher and the students, allowing me to position myself more as a moderator of the discussion rather than an authoritative figure. Secondly, considering that not all students were willing or interested in the participation, or simply timid, the focus group allowed them to create an open arena where they were not forced to engage if they didn't want to. Lastly, the discussion setting, allowed also to create a situation of dialogue where students were not only engaging with the researcher but also, interacting with each other's answers.

Furthermore, the typology of method employed- focus groups- aims at showing how if we change the terms of the discourse discussion, the social dialogue also changes. The methodology was evaluated as adequate because it allows to "draw upon respondents' attitudes, feelings, beliefs, experiences" (Gibbs 1997, 2). In other words, it permits investigating the collective perspective of the group of students (Gill and Baillie 2018,669). It grants the opportunity for in-depth data, while still maintaining the possibility of obtaining a variety of multiple answers (Ibid). This design shall also consider that, as students might not always be willing to provide extensive and exhaustive answers, the group setting that enables a social exchange between the participants can spur a richer discussion (Ibid). Moreover, this particular setting might witness the presence of stronger few elements that due to charisma or social hierarchies, might determine the overall consent or disagreement of the rest of the group (Sim 1998, 348). This should be considered in addition to the presence of an external figure, myself as researcher and their history teacher, both present during the focus groups. Considering the possible loss of interest or attention during the process, conducting focus group interviews will allow me to keep the respondents engaged and the conversation interactive, while leaving manoeuvre to stir its direction (Gibbs 1997,3).

The experiment evolved as the following. Firstly, through a focus group discussion, they were asked a set of questions to captivate their current understanding of the topic prior to the knowledge intervention. Subsequently, single copies of a predefined reading will be handed out to each student and the class will be asked to dedicate a short amount of time to read the text. After they had finished with the reading, we had to resume and another set of questions was posed again, containing distinctive questions that were aiming at developing a discussion and reflection on the presented reading. This was to be conducted with the intention to reveal if any change has occurred after the reading, considering the provision of more knowledge, therefore, to see how the attitudes have changed and towards what direction. Nonetheless, a possible obstacle for this particular procedure was lying in obtaining the approval and necessary permissions to conduct these focus groups, fortunately it was a smooth procedure.

The material selected for the "knowledge intervention" consists of single reading. Due to the limited knowledge of the English language, the readings will be in Italian. For the purpose of the intervention, the reading provided is a brief chapter "Il Fenomeno del Madamato e i Meticci" extrapolated from the book written by Di Sapio and Medi (2020) titled "Il Colonialismo Italiano in Africa tra Passato e Presente". This reading has been selected among many as it covers in greater detail the topic of race, institutional racism, and halfcaste people. The latter topic did not have a section dedicated to in the used textbook, and nor it was covered as an additional topic in the curriculums of the classes by the history teacher. In addition, the reading was part of a book that had already been used by the students and their teacher to cover topics that were not present in the main history textbook, like for example the phenomenon of the Madamato. Therefore, the students were already familiar with the writing style of the book, which was intelligible for their level of age, yet able to shed information on a new topic. Nonetheless there is another element to consider. The original experiment was set to also include a survey questionnaire to pose to the students together with the discussion to assess anonymously their beliefs, but unfortunately due to limited timing imposed by the teacher and the difficulties in keeping the classes under control, it was possible to only perform the knowledge intervention based on the reading.

The data collection process unfolded through the posing of 4 questions at the beginning of each session, to which students could spontaneously reply by raising their hands and the recording of those answers. Later, after the reading was provided, 4 more questions

were posed to the interviewees, who replied by raising their hands and allowing for the recording of those new answers. The qualitative data analysis method operated is discourse analysis. To understand and investigate the quality of the change in the social debate, it is necessary to understand how the language is used. Firstly, it aligns with the goal of this research: to research the construction of meaning. Secondly, discourse, employed in a particular social context, represents the means to trigger societal change or to achieve a specific objective. It represents the most suitable choice of analysis as it is based on one main pillar: reality is socially constructed. Therefore, the understanding that students have of Italian colonialism is subjective and context sensitive.

#### 5.2 Limitations

Having outlined the peculiarities of the context in which this research project will take place, differences are the preliminary limitations that must be underlined in order to proceed.

Firstly, this research will not aim at trying to change Italian (students) attitudes towards the topic, as the latter is a very slow process, which can be observed over generations. I will observe and evaluate how the quality of the debate has changed. Attitude change on colonial history and migration does not only depend on the teaching of such topics and the provision of new information, which can trigger a change in the mainstream discourse. It also depends on many different factors such as political views, religious beliefs, social context, economic background. Other factors include issues related to current beliefs about security, about legality (of migrants) etc. Moreover, the change might also depend on the type of government in place in this particular instance and how they reproduce certain ideas.

Secondly, it must be noted that, although Italy is a relatively small country, it is still very segregated and differentiated. This results in having to adjust to many variables in the research, namely in a great variation in terms of geographical location, socio-economic status and political view. For this reason, this project will not aim at drawing generalizations from the results obtained, that can be extended to the totality of the country. Nonetheless, for the sake of this research the focus will be limited on a particular classroom in the city of Rome from the Liceo Scientifico Ettore Majorana. Thirdly, it must be highlighted how the case study selected is not necessarily representative of the current trend in the country, rather

informative for the specific case selected. The objective will be to understand the power of a knowledge intervention on the students view of colonial past, while connecting it to salient contemporary issues such immigration and racism, undeniably intertwined with the colonial legacy and experience.

Thirdly, due to the kind of methodology selected for the study, my presence as researcher is necessary, during the development of the focus groups, in order to moderate the discussion, present the questions and the needed readings for the experiment. However, my presence could have involuntarily steered the answers provided, as students might feel that a certain type of answer is expected from them. Following this, the issue of authority must be touched upon. The presentation of this text in the pre-established formal setting of the classroom could play some role in the way in which the students interpret the validity of the new information given. According to Luke, De Castell and Luke (1983) this change can be pinned to the level of trustworthiness that the students attach to the source that gets presented to them. The social relations created in the schooling setting create a situation where the provided reading will be seen authorised valid knowledge that they can trust (Ibid, 113). The more the setting is formal and authoritative, the more students might be prone to reflect on the new information, as they might see it as more trustworthy. Therefore, results might be different in a setting that is less authoritative.

Having to consider these limitations, it is clear how these are areas that could be discussed and spur further research. Moreover, provided the above-mentioned specificities, this piece of work is not meant to be generalized into other settings, considering that the observations and results may be only pertaining in this set of circumstances involved.

#### 5.3 Ethical Challenges

A preliminary ethical challenge that might surge in this process is the power dynamics that might be in place. It must be considered that for example that students might feel pressured to provide a positive outcome to questions as they fear there might be repercussions according to the kind of answer they provide. In order to tackle such issues, the students will be reassured of the confidentiality of their answers. Moreover, to respect their privacy, anonymity will be used by utilising *aliases*. For the purpose of the study, informed consents will be handed out to each student, prior to the study, where the theme and objectives of the research will be clearly

stated. A consideration in regard to the voluntary nature of research: participants will be reminded of voluntary participation into the project and the possibility of withdrawing at any point of the experiment.

A second challenge is connected to a possible power structure in place between students and the researcher. For this reason, an introduction with both focus groups will be made where I present myself. The focus will be in highlighting a horizontal rather than vertical structure, where I position myself as a peer, who is only a few years older and as a former student of that high school. Moreover, the students will be asked if they feel comfortable conducting the experiment with the presence of the teacher in the room. A third ethical challenge regards the possible bias that might be in place as a researcher, in regard to the way through which some questions are posed or interpreted for the analysis.

Lastly, the possible obstacle that the role of gatekeeper retains, in this case the history professor of the class that will be interviewed for the research, is not present anymore. The personal connection with the history teacher, as my former professor, has allowed me to gain access to the classroom and the approval to gather data from that setting.

#### 5.4 Positionality within the research

The following section will inform the reader regarding the epistemological position that has been taken within this research project, to investigate the posed problematic. The latter will be from a thick constructivist perspective of the issue, as it will support explaining how the current mainstream conceptualization of an Italian past and their role in colonialism is portrayed, formed and perpetuated. "The human world is not simply given/and or natural", rather "it is constructed" (Agius 2013, 71). In order to fully capture the importance that ideas, human interactions and identity play in constructing this world, social constructivism shall be explained. The social interaction-based theory is anchored on several constitutive elements:

1) human activities construct the reality, therefore it does not exist prior to that 2) sees the process of meaningful learning as a social process that can happens only when individuals are confronted with others 3) human interactions is pivotal in the construction of knowledge of individuals (Amineh and Davatgari 2015,14). We will focus on the last two points of social constructivism. One of the ontological claims of social constructivism states how agents and

structures are mutually constituted. Such understanding is to be situated into the agency structure debate.

In order to understand and explain the problem of this research, a premise on the structure-agency debate must be made. Following Hay (2002) understanding of such a topic, this debate refers to the fact that social action is contingent on context and human conduct: it explains how individuals see the surrounding world and consequently how they interpret its economic, social, political mechanisms. Within this continuum, many are the strands to be recognised: simple and complex strands (Knio 2022,7). The former sees the denial of both structure and agency, or the prevalence of either structure or agency over the other, where one determines the other (Ibid). It might be tempting to use the simple strand in which structure—namely the institution of school—exerts influence on the agents—namely the students— where certain ideas that are impeded in the schooling system, shape the way students see the world, and therefore see and perceive the Italian past. Nonetheless, this will not be used because it does not take into account the influence that context exerts on agency/structure (Knio 2022,7). In this case, it would not take into the analysis the fact that the way Italy conceptualizes its past is also due to a lack of postcolonial debate in the social, political and academic sphere (Del Boca 2003, 19). Differently from countries such Germany, England or France, Italy has not been successful in its colonial mission, bearing the shame of defeat, which has led the country to never face public accountability for their actions (Lombardi-Diop and Romeo 2012,6). Therefore, the conceptualization of the past and how students see this past and the role of their country, has not solely been shaped by the educational system and by the different actors involved, but also by the context in which Italy has developed this discourse of colonial times.

The latter strand, also known as complex, as defined by Hay (2002), is driven by a co-constitutive argument and divides itself into four strands. The fourth strand—thick constructivism (TC)—will be the point of view that this paper will employ. The underlying assumption is that structures do not have properties/characteristics per se, they get co-created when they interact with actors. (Simultaneously, actors get influenced by these structures) (Knio 2022, 7). Its main argument is based on the mutual constitutive basis of structure and agency. The choice of such theory is validated by three reasons upon which TC is built: structures (i) get mutually constructed in relation to agents, through the vehicle of ideas; (ii) but also, they exist within agents in the form of social fact (Ibid). In the context of

this research such affirmation aims to explain how the image of a collective past is constructed through teaching history, and at the same time it is co-constructed by the experience, beliefs and values of the Italians (students) in classrooms. History notions in school curriculums are absorbed by society as social facts, playing a special role in how people give meaning to present events and situations (Korostelina 2008, 26). They might advance a particular standpoint for the exclusion of certain groups, the role of a nation in a conflict, justification for a powerful regime etc (Ibid). Lastly, it considers the role that context plays in the debate (Knio 2022, 7). The context in which this image is constructed is a context that sees a lack of self-guilt, which gets reflected in the teaching of history (Favero 2010,140). Firstly, we must consider the pre-existing beliefs, where some premises are assumed to be true and therefore accepted (Egan 1998, 315). Secondly, the social interaction that students have with other people and with the socio-cultural Italian context in which they grew up, contributes to cultivating the knowledge they retain of (national) history (Leo 2019, 293). This process of learning results to be crucial as often the information is enriched by pre-existing biases, beliefs, social representations etc, which may affect students' prior understanding of history (Ibid). Adler (1997)'s understanding of ideas as "collective knowledge, institutionalized in practices" (Adler 1997, 325) sheds light on the fact that the idea of "Italiani Brava Gente" (good-hearted people, immune to racism), and of an immaculate Italian past, is being collectively remembered in a certain way, which is institutionalized and reproduced through the schooling system. Consequently, the social reality of (young) Italians is constructed, shaped and maintained by these ideas embedded into everyday practices and routines (Ibid).

This premise constitutes the ontological base upon which this paper will try to understand the results obtained following the knowledge intervention among the understanding of the students and the social dialogue that they create around it.

## 6.0 Results and analysis

The following analysis will be guided by the need to investigate a change in the social dialogue of the classrooms after the provision of new in-depth information about the topic of Italian colonialism. In order to see if there has been a change in understanding of the topic, the gathered data from the experiment will be divided into two data groups: before and after the intervention. Following such division, 4 main codes were generated to support the analysis: general understanding of colonialism, Italian role in the colonial experience, the discourse of Italiani Brava Gente, immigration. These are the most common themes that could be extrapolated from interviews. The discussion was guided according to these four themes as each of them represents a key part to answer the main research question. Firstly, there was a need to assess the general knowledge that students possessed on colonialism, in order to map out current understandings. Secondly, to capture how this narrative has been particularly relevant in the context of Italy, the discussion focused on the Italian role within colonialism. Thirdly, to unveil some of the widespread images that are constructed within the current discourse of Italian colonialism can change, the theme of "Italiani Brava Gente" was taken into consideration. Lastly, the topic of Immigration was proposed in the intervention to assess the current beliefs of the treated youth and its relation to multiculturalism and cultural inclusion.

#### 6.1 General understanding of Colonialism

Before

Throughout the 5 classes the topic of colonialism was referred to by students as a necessity of powerful countries to expand their territories or to spread a nation's culture. When asked to describe in their own words their understanding of what colonialism is, there was a widespread understanding and description of it from an economic and political perspective. Therefore, the natural resources and the trade benefits with the colonies were brought up, along with the necessity to conquer many territories and build an empire to assert power and dominance. An interesting point was noticing how none of the students connected colonialism as based on any ideology. A student even enhanced the innovative way of controlling a new territory, "in ways that were not seen before", proposing colonialism as an avant-guard process. The answers lacked a mention of any social aspects linked to the subjugation of other populations based on race, skin color or any other social differences.

When asked about how they would picture a person of color, the students described the image using poor, weaker, less developed, in need, brown as main distinguishing elements. This image will be later compared with the adjectives used to describe an immigrant person.

*After* 

Following the reading of the provided text, students were asked to provide their new insights in regard to how they would interpret and explain the concept of colonialism. The conversation included several elements. Firstly, the violence and crime of colonialism were mentioned, as distinctive traits of the conquest. Secondly, the framing included the subjecting and invasion of other territories. Several voices expressed this invasion as based on a specific ideology, namely the superiority of the white race. Lastly, the students from two classes discussed on how there was a certain social hierarchy based on the color of the skin, aligning with the rest of the group in recognizing the white race at top of the social pyramid. Student C noted that, during colonialism, black people were seen as inferior due to their skin. The overall discussion was now enriched by terms such as race, superiority, discrimination. The language used to describe colonialism comprised terms such as genocide, war crime, massacre, invasion etc.

### Analysis

The answers provided underwent a significant change in how the concept of colonialism was framed by the same students. In first place, the most evident change is represented by using "race" and "discrimination" in conversations and a present connection of colonialism based on the white race supremacy ideology, dictating the invasions. Secondly, after the reading students did not frame colonialism as a purely economic and resource based necessity, as they did before, rather focusing on the skin color element. The after discussion pivoted towards the social/human aspect that comes into play in colonialism: the physical feature of people, on which the distinction is made. This shows their understanding that colonialism was expressed and conceived as exploitation and slavery of other populations, based also on the racial component, and not purely on the economic base. Thirdly, it can be observed from the discussion following the reading, a realization of the element of violence and exploitation that characterized colonialism, that in the previous discourse was completely lacking. This is visible by the fact that students started to mention some examples of wars where the indigenous population was completely and atrociously conquered by the

colonizers. Now students referred to one, namely the battle of Adwa, between Italy and Ethiopia, reflecting on its atrocities and on its fatalities. Lastly, a new conceptualization of the theme is also to be seen in the different definitions of the latter, where sentences such as "seeking the control of territories" and "controlling the society" showcase a less passive framing of the colonial actions.

#### 6.2 Italian Role

**Before** 

Students were asked to brainstorm words related to Italian colonialism. In doing so, the word Italy and Mussolini were only mentioned 1 time each by two different students. England, Germany, France, America, Hitler, Africa, Roman Empire and history were the most common answers. In regard to the role, they believed Italy has in the colonial conquest, there was in each class a unanimous consensus that Italy has a marginal role in the colonial tale, as it was defined several times as a failed attempt of the country to gain new territories, reinforcing this view of colonialism from a purely economic/political perspective. Diving deeper into the conversation, the topic of colonial legacy had surfaced. Students therefore reflected on the visible consequences of Italian colonialism. The answers were quite divided into no legacy, positive aspects, negative aspects. The first group expressed its understanding that there were no visible consequences or legacy of Italian colonialism as "Italian is not spoken anywhere", and "we don't have institutional racism like in the US ". The second group recalled the existence of positive aspects such as the infrastructures built and the economic prosperity brought to Africa, together with the exporting of Italian culture. The last group, instead, discussed the negative aspects of the colonial legacy, as being negative only for the country of Italy, as it employed all its resources in many battles that were lost, therefore creating a shameful experience. The overall language adopted by the students when referring to what Italy did in the colonial experience catches the recurring words of conquering, obtaining. Moreover, Italian colonialism was often referred to as the "African Adventure".

After

Moving to the second theme of the debate, a small fraction of the crowd interviewed did not show sign of changing their positions in regard to the role of Italians in the colonial experience. Their understanding remained shifted towards a "marginal role". The rest of the answers provided, mentioned a role of oppressor, connecting the answers to specific

sentences in the reading. An example is Student D's reference to "the damage that we caused to the local population and to the women that were violated", indicating the section of how half-caste people came to be. The countries of Ethiopia and Libya were now part included in the discourse in reference to the Italian colonies overseas and acknowledged as such. When discussing the legacy of Italian colonialism, many students indicated the presence of consequences in modern Italian society. In first place, the ongoing racist perception of Italians towards who is different. The difference was further explained with race, religion, and culture. In the answers, the provided reading was mentioned by students as a tool for them to understand how institutional racism is still existing. On the other hand, a different strain of thought characterized some answers that still saw Italian role in the colonial embargo as marginal due to the lack of profits, economic and territorial. Lastly, students had stopped referring to Italian colonialism, as the "African Adventure".

### Analysis

Although some students do not seem to change their opinion regarding the role of Italian in colonialism, an overall change in the discourse can be observed when comparing the before and after data. Students demonstrated to be more aware and to actively acknowledge the Italian position. This shows that the reading served as an instrument for them to move beyond the idealized Italian intervention of a "life changing experience for the colonies". The process of acknowledging is evident in several instances. Firstly, it is evident in how students changed and, in their answers, talked about Italy as the oppressor, therefore grasping the role of someone who uses their power to control and submit other groups, showcasing an acceptance of this new image. Before the specific term was never mentioned. Secondly, a new sense of collective guilt emerged from the answers provided by students, especially regarding the violence committed towards the local women. Notable for the analysis is how the process of acknowledging the colonial wrongdoing and role in them is vivid especially when students started to mention specific countries that were Italian former colonies. It displays quite a contrast from the beginning where, when asked, students expressed their lack of familiarity with what the Italian colonies were. This shows that the colonies are not a faraway reality, rather by mentioning exactly the names of the colonies, they became a concrete history instance in the mind of the students. Lastly, students were now highlighting a sense of severity when discussing the legacy of colonialism. The use of the word "consequences" rather than "legacy", demonstrates the gravity perceived by the interviewees. The legacy was

not framed from the perspective of the Italian country, for example "Italian is not spoken anywhere", but rather from the stance of Libya, Ethiopia and Eritrea, in phrases like "the damage we caused". This shift in perspective, from colonizers to colonized point of view, is exemplary of how, following the reading, students started impersonating themselves more in the colonized position. Moreover, a step further was taken in the recognition mechanism, when the pupils engaged with present consequences, such as engrained dislike towards who is different, rather than framing the colonial consequences as a problem present only in the past. This did not only include the race-based discrimination coloring Italian society, but students went beyond mentioning also culture and religion-based ones. Lastly a remarkable shift in the framing of the historical events can be observed from the before and after. The students had stopped referring to the Italian role and its colonialism as the African Adventure, a phrasing that was clearly downplaying the gravity of the events.

#### 6.3 Italiani Brava Gente

## **Before**

Connected to the previous aspect, for this part of the questionnaire, the students were asked to discuss and provide their understanding of the image of the Italian as a good-hearted person. However, the students were not provided any other context or explanation in regard to the controversy of the myth. They found themselves in alignment with the image of "Italiani Brava Gente", explaining that Italian soldiers were not known for any crime or violence, as they were in that situation strictly due to their job. "We were not savages" and the compassionate aspect of Italian soldiers is an aspect that came up in the discussions, while no one mentioned any episode of genocide or massacre against the local population. Again, the caring and saviour aspect of Italian colonizers was perceived in sentences such as "we built roads for them and even helped in their development". When inquiring about the topic of half-cast people, generated from the union of Italian soldiers and local women, students expressed how it was not an issue as they believed they were seen as Italians and therefore socially accepted. Others did not believe they existed. Shifting conversation towards the comparison with other colonial empires, this sentiment of magnanimity seemed to be amplified: the "we were never that bad" was presented, especially in comparison to other countries like England or France, as student highlighted.

After

In this section, the majority of the answers found a disagreement with the figure of the Italian soldier as good and kindhearted. Student F claimed how they did not realize that Italians might have been just "as bad as the other imperialist powers". Some others specified the ability to hide the cruel nature better than others. The students proposed such answers, before referring to the section which was explaining the creation of a "strategic" third race, the half-caste people, in order to maintain the purity of the Italian white race. Indeed, the topic of half-cast people sparked a considerable discussion. A part of the interviewees highlighted aspects related to the existence of racial laws in the country, that were enabling the perpetuation of such discrimination. The other part of the group discussed how discrimination and xenophobia towards people of color was and still is entrenched into the Italian individual, due to the need to maintain a pure race. Both groups specified their strong belief that this image is not that widespread and relevant today. Student G and Student L further developed the conversation by drawing up some parallelisms between how half-caste people and "non-white" Italians are both discriminated against, as they are often not considered fully Italians.

# Analysis

For this part of the discussion, what emerged from the discussion with students is the creation of a new discourse, which reinforces the component of social change through discourse (Luke, De Castell, and Luke 1983,113). The latter was created in substitution to the image of the "Italiani Brava Gente" after the intervention, which means that it was no longer suited for the post intervention understanding of the classes. This new discourse is characterised by an image where Italians are good-hearted people, therefore moving away from their conceptualization of white man saviour complex that was shining through the previous answers. "We helped them in their development" transitioned to the realisation that "we were as bad". The shift moved away from conceptualising Italians as not being a real coloniser to a greater accountability of the actions. The interviewees became more critical of the situation, stating how Italian were as responsible as the others, just better at hiding their misconduct. The many examples that were present in the conversation, such as the creation of a third race to classify half-caste people, sustain this observation. The new discourse created also sees the image of the Italian as inherently racist, as pointed out by the crowd, as

often non-white Italians have to endure discrimination as they are not considered Italian. Although, notable of discussion is how students do not believe that the image of "Italiani Brava Gente" still exists today, highlighting who Italians are aware of their role in the colonial wrongdoings. This is a substantial contradiction with what was experienced before and after the same intervention. The same students before the reading expressed their alignment with the Italian being magnanimous and charitable towards the conquered populations, yet they do not believe that this image still exists today.

# 6.4 Immigration

Before

The hot topic of immigration was able to engage the majority of the students, even timid ones. To begin with, when asked to describe the figure of the immigrant, in juxtaposition with the figure of the Italian, students based their distinction based mainly on physical, social and economic basis. The color of the skin represented a salient distinction: Brown and black in comparison to the white Italian. Moreover, a couple of students did not refrain themselves from adding that "smell" was a distinctive characteristic of immigrants. The students described the immigrant as someone who "behaves differently from us", and when asked to deepen their explanation they stated how "they are so strict with religion". In addition, the immigrant embodied a person who was lacking economic means and resources, together with a lack of education. From the answer it is deductible how immediately students thought about extra-communitarian immigrants rather than expat immigrants, when given no specification about the type of immigration. Worthy of attention is how students unconsciously assumed that all Italians are of white race, without leaving space for any doubt. Moreover, as precisely analyzed, the figure of the immigrant and the colonized do seem to overlap in the way in which students have described both. Moving beyond the mere description in terms of similar terminology, it is interesting to notice how in both cases, there is the creation of two separate groups: us vs them, colonizer vs colonized. The process of the othering is seen first in the colonized and then in the immigrant. A strong sense of belonging to the Italian nation was deductible from the discussion. The distinction between who was Italian and who was not was very clear in the classroom (Italianness). This is also clear in many of the students' opinions on the topic. Student A stressed how "they need to integrate with us and adapt to our world when they decide to come". Others, like Student B, when

describing the issue of immigration flows in Italy, highlighted how criminality has substantially increased since their arrival. Although Student B recognized that there is a widespread sense of xenophobia in the country, the immigrants "feel discriminated against and yet continue to act like this", in reference to the criminal behaviour. Student C instead expressed that immigration was not a problem per se, rather the adaptation to the religion of the hosting country.

# After

When the topic of discussion was again re-proposed based on what the students had conceptualized from the reading, diversity and cultural mix were found to be fundamental pillars in the discussions, whereas an Italian society should be important to embrace and learn from. The need for more inclusivity and openness seemed to be now reoccurring themes in the discussion, when touching upon the issue of embracing different cultures. In particular, interviews recognized the existence of many positive aspects that can be drawn from the union of different cultures. In this setting 7 students spontaneously reflected on such positive aspects and shared with the group instances or episodes where they could recall learning from such diversity. The discussion touched upon the lessons that could be drawn from colonialism and applied nowadays, in regard to the acceptance of "who is different". "Putting ourselves into each other's shoes" emerged as a concluding life lesson in order to be more understanding and empathic. Moreover, when discussing the situations of millions of people dying when trying to reach Italian shores, Student M stated that "it was our fault" that so many people are dying and "the current policies enacted by the Italian Government are not working". Recalling the text, 17 students bridged a connection between the propaganda that was popular during colonial time demonising the half-caste people, and the public discourse pursued by far-right parties and the media to criminalise the upcoming immigrants. Nonetheless, from the conversation, students highlight several times their beliefs that racist attitudes were only present in the older generations, parents and grandparents, rather than in younger ones, pinning to the past the intolerant mentality and biassed attitudes towards foreigners.

### Analysis

For this theme, a clear change can be observed in the lens through which the figure of the immigrant was perceived by the interviewees. The intervention has shifted the discourse of students surrounding their perception of an immigrant person from a passive to active figure. If before it was discussed and described as someone poor and vulnerable, now the conversation has expanded more towards all the aspects that an immigrant person has to offer. Embracing the diversity that gets created in this cultural exchange represents the main focal point that can be concluded after the experiment. Students shifted from a closed off and aggressive reasoning towards immigrants, to then move towards a more embracing stance. The positive episodes of cultural exchange shared in the dialogue, are exemplary of a movement beyond their initial beliefs and position towards a greater acceptance. In addition to this, what the reading was able to do is a reframing of the problem: before immigration was not so much seen as a problem, rather the unwillingness of immigrants to adapt to Italian customs and traditions etc. Afterwards, the reading allowed the content of the answers to move away from the strong national sense of being Italian, and the need for newcomers to adapt to this. The shift was directed towards a more inclusive stance, that did not see religion and cultural diversity as an issue to be solved once arriving into Italian territories. Moreover, the after experiment showed how the reading had provided some ground and served as a tool for students to go beyond the mere information provided in the text, to critically draw connection with other topics. A considerable section of the session was dedicated to the different links that were made between the colonized and the immigrants. According to the students, in terms of discrimination and criminalization, both groups underwent a process of "othering" based on their race/ethnicity. However, a discrepancy is to be found in this discourse. Students perceived themselves as more aware and open minded, especially in comparison to their parent's generation. To back this, after the reading they discussed how the demining propaganda during colonial times was parallelly still existing when talking about immigration. Yet, the same classmates, before the intervention, were claiming how "criminality increased after their arrival" and how they still keep acting like criminals "even when they don't want to be discriminated against". A denial of these dimensions shows that even if the students were exposed to more in-depth information, some discourses are still deeply ingrained, resulting in difficulty to change in a shorter framework.

## 6.5 A shift in the wording: language analysis

The analysis of the language use represents a clear indicator that sheds light on how the content quality of the social discourse within classes changed after new information was provided. From the discussion before the reading, the language used by students employed words such as conquest, settlement, expansionism, especially when referring to and describing colonialism. Whereas verbs such as developing, obtaining and expanding were employed when describing colonization of third parties. After the intervention a clear change can be observed in the language used. The use of stronger words such as invasion, war, massacres, genocide used to frame the acts of colonialization. This shift in terminology shows how students picked up the gravity of the situation from the text and redefined their way of describing and understanding colonialism and the related topics. Moreover, after the intervention it can be observed how there is a shift in the subjects used in the sentences. Before when referring to the country's role in the colonial conquest, students tended to use the subjects of Italians in their answers, rather after the intervention the subject became "we". A change from general and impersonal use of Italians to the more personal and inclusive use of "we" shows how there was a form of appropriation and recognition of the actions.

## 6.6 A glimpse into the history textbook

The history manual adopted by the five classes is titled "Le Carte della Storia. Spazi e Tempi del Mondo. Dal Novecento ad Oggi" by Caracciolo and Roccucci (2022) and it represents the textbook of reference for the study of history of the interviewed classes. As we have seen, the subject of history, differently from other scholastic subjects, is still heavily relying on the support of the textbook as a means of teaching. Therefore, a brief assessment, yet necessary, must be made for the understanding of the content of what students have been learning. What is most relevant to this research, is framing of the issues of colonialism and the Italian role in it. Firstly, the book containing more than 400 pages has a total of two sub paragraphs dedicated to Italian colonialism, where the topics are covered in sections that are no longer than 300 words, and one chapter dedicated to decolonialism, where the Italian case is not even mentioned (see Appendix C). The first two paragraphs touch upon Colonialism during the Giolitti era (see Appendix A) and the one during the Mussolini era (see Appendix B). The mention of Ethiopia and Libya is present, although none of wars or genocides is mentioned and the presentation is limited to historical succession of events, without any further in-depth information regarding socio, cultural and economic implications for colonies. There are no further readings or extra material suggested regarding the topic. The end-of-thechapter quizzes only assesses colonialism in England, France and The Netherlands. The economic side of the conquest is nonetheless covered. Moreover, the colonial conquest is

often referred to as "Colonial Adventure". Secondly, the chapter of decolonisation covers different countries such as England, France, Spain and their colonies, therefore with a focus on colonized countries; however, there is a lack of content on African decolonization from the Italian perspective.

# 7.0 Discussion and findings

What could be observed when comparing findings before and after the knowledge intervention is a considerable change in the quality of the debate. This change was observable on a different level: on a linguistic, beliefs/attitudes level and discourse level. From a linguistic perspective, the social dialogue that took place within the class drastically shifted. From a more impersonal use of language, that in a way was reinforcing a distance between "Italians"-the students- and the "Other"- whether colonized groups or immigrants— it drifted towards a more inclusive and empathic use of lexicon. The frequent use of "we" and "us" to include these groups that before were referred as "them", showcased an understanding of students that was less exclusionary. With the introduction of new material, the separation between the Italians and the Other had become more fluid. On a practical basis, this has demonstrated creating a more humane and empathic relation with the topics of discussions, going from being a faraway detached reality, to a concrete perception and connection with these people as "more than just mere words on a piece of paper".

The main pattern observable surfacing after the experiment is the power role information withholds, and the way it is presented, within a larger discourse. The change in the social discourse perceivable in the aftermath of the experiment is in the framing of the discussion, for many instances of the focus groups. Many were the new consideration in regards following points: i) the experience of colonialism that moved away from the economic motives towards a more exploitative framing, ii) a novel image that sees Italians not just as magnanimous colonizers but rather as perpetrators of exploitation and colonial crimes, iii) the shift in the way immigrants were perceived by students, from a criminal problem that need to be tackled to but rather as an enriching source for multiculturalism. All of this is exemplary of the level of increased understanding for the intricacy and consequences that the treated topic triggered within students. Their heightened attitude to be more critical towards social themes and historical events, was a result of the knowledge intervention. However, the

persistent denial of the existence of racism within their generation, even if there was proof of racism and xenophobia within the same dialogues, builds a case in understanding how difficult it is to change the overall discourse in such a small instance of time. Here, the social representation of the Italian colonial past has aided in the construction of collective memory of the interviewed groups, who represented vehicles for its reproduction. This has provided the background to understand their unique way of operating and analyzing other modern issues such as immigration, multiculturalism, immigration etc.

On a deeper level, it can be observed how some images and discourses that feed into the narrative of "Italiani Brava Gente" are still very present in the subconscious of the young minds. Here, a parallelism can be drawn: the intrinsically magnanimous nature of Italian in the colonial venture as conceptualized by the older generation's discourse, did absolve Italians from being colonialist and racist, as highlighted by the interviewees. Nonetheless, the same ideological image can also be found in the answers of the same interviewees, who acknowledge racist tendencies only in the Older generations of Italians, stating the lack of discrimination and xenophobia within their younger generation – (Giovani) Italiani Brava Gente. It is clear how this ideological framing has never lost its importance, re-claiming its role into Italian culture in modern times, not only for the issues of colonialism but also from a wider perspective. With the changing migratory flows and a greater sense of nationalism of the last few years this image had shielded the Italian conscience from contemplating the possibility of racism and bigotry. rather recognising its existence but never in their country or their own generation.

These are important findings also regarding the modality through which students have processed information. On one hand, a clear instance of cognitive dissonance has surfaced in the dialogues. Firstly, the belief that racism does exist in their generation, regardless of the clear instances of racism put forward by the same colleagues. Here the dissonance has been faced by denial and refusing the possibility of a different reality. Additionally, the reading provided served as a disturbance factor that triggered a process of dissonance between the prior package of knowledge and beliefs of the interviewees and the new information presented to them. Their prior knowledge of Italian colonialism and the attached myths and beliefs has been challenged by the text provided during the experiment, causing a significant change in the framing of their dialogues. On the other hand, the notion of confirmation bias has aided in explaining that after the experiment, some students still

argued in favour of their position. An example is the maintained understanding that Italians had contributed "significantly into the economic development of their colonies" and that "Arabs and Africans were portrayed as criminals for a reason". Although the reading proved to be contradicting these statements and conceptions, some students selected only the information that reinforced their prior bias on those topics; therefore, not accepting any new information deviating from their pre-existing understanding. Many of the current dialogues, drawing from a colonialist view, still resonate in the answers of the students. The underlying moral superiority was found to be looking down upon a category of immigrant- Africans and Arabs- that resembled the colonial way of thinking.

# 8.0 Conclusion

We have commenced this research by establishing the nature of the problem for this research, which is the conceptualization of the past, to then move into the understanding that Italians have of their colonial past. This understanding encompassed a vision of an benign and marginal Italian presence in their colonies. The latter has framed the reproduction of a certain historical discourse around the topic of colonialism, while deeply shaping the public dialogues and the construction of a self-identity, juxtaposed with the image of the "Other". Such understanding creates links with the present issues through societal beliefs and attitudes towards the reality we live in -a continuum between multiculturalism and nationalism. Nowadays the increasing migratory flows have served as a vehicle for these beliefs to surface, where we see how this image/framing and understanding of the past is translated in how people operate towards immigrants and different cultures. One of the main instruments through which these collective memories are reproduced is the educational system, more specifically via the information presented in the history textbooks in schools. The research had therefore moved towards assessing the role of history education and textbook knowledge in the school setting. The information bearer of the official version of historical narratives are the textbooks, which contain the information that partially contributes to the collective understanding and conceptualizations of a nation's past and present (Foster 2011, 7).

From the conducted interviews and analysis, it can be concluded that information available in the world influences and changes people's views and ideas, in a way that cannot

be underestimated. The existing social structure and pertaining actors that shape our world, contribute to creating discourses and dialogues that are then repeated and perpetuated across the social fabric. Considering the example of history education, school curriculum and textbook, we see a direct outlet of such discourses. The ongoing development of anticulturalism, serving to reinforce a sense of nationalism, as opposed to multiculturalism, is therefore a constructed phenomenon that is influenced by social discourse (Dong, Day, and Collaço 2008, 28). Concepts and narratives can be employed negatively to construct, establish and teach negative social discourse, but clearly such processes can be reversed into a positive one. Such politically charged dialogues are therefore constructed in a way where they can serve a certain purpose. Providing the Italian context, this paper has also touched upon how political debates are devices used, especially by right-wing representatives to feed a precise understanding of historical events and narratives. The latter is enacted through an instrumentalist use of education and knowledge, resulting in an undeniable impact on people's views and conceptualization of some issues.

Exemplary is the current framework used in the political arena frames in regard to the issue of immigration. The creation of the "Other" as an external enemy "coming to invade and threaten the preservation of the nation" finds its commonalities in both immigration and colonial rhetoric. Zooming into the case of Italian Colonialism and the understanding that young minds possess, it was possible to observe how certain conceptualizations of the past together with some collective myths are still getting transmitted through time. They are responsible for shaping the understanding and beliefs that students have of other topics intertwined with Colonialism. The myth of Italiani Brava Gente is an example of how the Italian role within colonialism is perceived and its connection with the topic of immigration, discrimination, criminalization and racism in the country. Here, the old and yet persisting rhetoric of the "Italiani Brava Gente" myth is reinforced by emphasizing the element of innocence. The "innocent" Italians that are experiencing this invasion of the "Other" unjustly. Where before the "other" was the colonized group that was threatening the preservation of a pure race and Italian culture, nowadays this experiment showed how it is applied also onto a new "danger": the immigrants. The rhetoric reinforces the colonial concept of "Otherness" with its criminalization creating a status of "being under threat". It frames immigration as the problem. The new information provided to the interviewees had actually shifted the framing from a "problem" view of the topic towards an inclusive stance.

It shows the instrumental side of knowledge and information that can be applied through history textbooks in the case of educating younger generations.

As the experiment has shown, providing new information that is more in depth and that diverges from the mainstream information and discourse taught, can help change the parameters of the conversation. This paper draws on the powerful political usage of language and discourse, in changing students and at large societal attitudes and understanding towards different cultures. The social dialogues depend on what the agents are exposed to: in the setting of education a considerable role is attributed to the information that is contained in history textbooks. With these conclusions the consequent puzzles arise: how to combat this? The case of the knowledge intervention has shown that by enhancing critical reflection and tackling the human aspect of the scenarios, the attitudes and beliefs can change. This was immediately visible with the students' change in the answers provided, consequent to the reading of the given informative text. To conclude, this research in the context of the interviewed classes of Liceo S. Ettore Majorana, can assert several points. Firstly, it has assessed the intricate relation between education of history, reproduction of mainstream discourses and knowledge. Secondly it has assessed the current understanding, dialogues and myths regarding the topic of Italian Colonialism, more specifically in its reproduction through school textbooks. Thirdly, it has evaluated how the historical narrative of Italian colonialism has been portrayed in the public discourse. Lastly, attempting to provide an answer to the main research question, this research will conclude that information can influence change, rather a shift, in the quality of the social dialogues and conceptualization that students hold of Italian colonial past, and of related topics, at large. Its result in a change in parameters of the dominant discourses of conversation.

Considering the many limitations that had to be set and ramifications of this research, further research can spur from these results. For instance, further inquiries could be made to explore in future settings the longevity of these changes in social dialogues within classes, to understand if, once the information triggers the change, if it continues and under what conditions. Therefore, to understand how durable changes in the discourse can be.

# **References List**

- Adler, Emmanuel. 1997. "Seizing the middle ground: Constructivism in world politics". European Journal of International Relations, 3(3), 319–363.
- Agius, Christine. 2013. "Social constructivism." Contemporary security studies 3 (2013): 87-103.
- Amineh, Roya Jafari, and Hanieh Davatgari Asl. 2015. "Review of constructivism and social constructivism." *Journal of social sciences, literature and languages* 1, no. 1 (2015): 9-16.
- Andall, Jacqueline. 1990. "New Migrants, Old Conflicts: The Recent Immigration into Italy." *The Italianist* 10 (1): 151–74. https://doi.org/10.1179/ita.1990.10.1.151.
- Associazione Carta di Roma." Associazione Carta Di Roma. November 13, 2022. <a href="https://www.cartadiroma.org/news/in-evidenza/le-responsabilita-dei-media-nella-propaganda-razzista/">https://www.cartadiroma.org/news/in-evidenza/le-responsabilita-dei-media-nella-propaganda-razzista/</a>.
- Asgi.2022." Quando discriminano le istituzioni: Uguaglianza, diritti sociali, immigrazione". Rapporto finale del Progetto L.A.W. Leverage the Access to Welfare. Accessed June 23, 2023.
- Baviskar, Sandhya N., R. Todd Hartle, and Tiffany Whitney. 2009. "Essential criteria to characterize constructivist teaching: Derived from a review of the literature and applied to five constructivist-teaching method articles." *International Journal of Science Education* 31, no. 4 (2009): 541-550.
- Ben-Ghiat, Ruth.2006. "Modernity is just over there: Colonialism and Italian national identity." *interventions* 8, no. 3 (2006): 380-393.
- Ben Ghiat, Ruth e Fuller, Mia. 2007. Italian colonialism. New York: Palgrave Macmillan. Print.
- Bianchi, Rino, and Igiaba Scego. 2014 Roma negata: Percorsi postcoloniali nella città. Ediesse.
- Bobineau, Julien. 2017. "The historical taboo: colonial discourses and postcolonial identities in Belgium." *Werkwinkel* 12, no. 1 (2017): 107-123.
- Bobowik, Magdalena, Joaquim Pires Valentim, and Laurent Licata. 2018. "Introduction to the Special Issue: Colonial past and intercultural relations." *International Journal of Intercultural Relations* 62 (2018): 1-12.
- Cajani, Luigi.2013. "The image of Italian colonialism in Italian history textbooks for secondary schools." *Journal of Educational Media, Memory, and Society* 5, no. 1 (2013): 72-89.

- Caracciolo, Lucio and Adriano Roccucci. 2022. Le Carte della Storia. Spazi e Tempi del Mondo. Volume 3. Mondadori Scuola.
- Chun, Jahyun. "Is it possible to overcome nation-centric histories? Rewriting memories of colonization and war in history textbooks." *Interventions* 20, no. 4 (2018): 567-585.
- Dal Lago, Alessandro. 2010. "La porta stretta. L'Italia e" l'altra riva" tra colonialismo e politiche migratorie." *California Italian Studies* 1, no. 1 (2010).
- Del Boca, Angelo. "Il colonialismo italiano tra miti, rimozioni, negazioni e inadempienze." Italia contemporanea 212 (1998): 589-603.
- De Michele, Grazia.2011. "'A beautiful moment of bravery and hard work': Italian colonialism in post-1945 history high school textbooks." *Modern Italy* 16, no. 2 (2011): 105-120.
- Demos & Pi. n.d. "Il Nord Est e Le Categorie Discriminate Osservatorio Sul Nord Est". Accessed June 23, 2023. <a href="http://www.demos.it/a01672.php">http://www.demos.it/a01672.php</a>.
- De Michele, Grazia. 2006. "La storia dell'Africa e del colonialismo italiano nei manuali di storia in uso nelle scuole superiori." *I Sentieri della Ricerca* 3 (2006): 131-168.
- Di Sapio, Anna and Marina Medi. 2020. *Il colonialismo italiano in Africa*. Tra passato e presente. Creative Commons.
- Dong, Qingwen, Kenneth D. Day, and Christine M. Collaço. "Overcoming ethnocentrism through developing intercultural communication sensitivity and multiculturalism." Human Communication 11, no. 1 (2008): 27-38.
- Egan, Owen. 1986. "The concept of belief in cognitive theory." In *Annals of theoretical psychology*, pp. 315-350. Boston, MA: Springer US, 1986.
- Faso, Giuseppe. "La costruzione sociale dell'immigrato e del richiedente asilo in Italia. Colti, democratici, e razzismo colonialista." *Iperstoria* 6 (2015).
- Favero, Paolo. "Italians, the "good people": Reflections on national self-representation in contemporary Italian debates on xenophobia and war." *Outlines. Critical Practice Studies* 12, no. 2 (2010): 138-153.
- Festinger, Leon.1962. A theory of cognitive dissonance. Vol. 2. Stanford university press.
- Festinger, Leon. 1957. A theory of cognitive dissonance. Stanford University Press.
- Finnemore, Martha, and Kathryn Sikkink. "International norm dynamics and political change." *International organization* 52, no. 4 (1998): 887-917.
- Foster, Stuart. "Dominant traditions in international textbook research and revision." *Education inquiry* 2, no. 1 (2011): 5-20.

- Fuchs, Eckhardt, and Marcus Otto. 2013."Educational media, textbooks, and postcolonial relocations of memory politics in Europe." *Journal of Educational Media, Memory, and Society* 5, no. 1 (2013): 1-13.
- Gabrielli, Gianluca. "Un aspetto della politica razzista nell'impero: il 'problema dei meticci'." Passato e presente 15, no. 41 (1997): 77-115.
- Ghiglione, Giorgio. 2020. "Italy Still Won't Confront Its Colonial Past." Foreign Policy, July 30, 2020. <a href="https://foreignpolicy.com/2020/07/30/as-europe-reckons-with-racism-italy-still-wont-confront-its-colonial-past/">https://foreignpolicy.com/2020/07/30/as-europe-reckons-with-racism-italy-still-wont-confront-its-colonial-past/</a>.
- Gibbs, Anita.1997. "Focus groups." Social research update 19, no. 8 (1997): 1-8.
- Gill, Paul, and Jessica Baillie. 2018. "Interviews and focus groups in qualitative research: an update for the digital age." *British dental journal* 225, no. 7 (2018): 668-672.
- Givens, Terri E. "Immigration, race and the radical right: politics and policy from colonialism to Brexit." *JCMS: Journal of Common Market Studies* 58, no. 3 (2020): 514-526.
- Giuliani, Gaia, "«Non ci sono italiani negri». Il colore legittimo nell'Italia contemporanea". In La sottile lineabianca. Intersezioni di razza, genere e classe nell'Italia postcoloniale. (254-267), 2013.
- Griffini, Marianna. 2022. "'How can you feel guilty for colonialism? it is a folly': colonial memory in the Italian populist radical right." *European Politics and Society* (2022): 1-17.
- Hay, Colin. 2002. Political analysis: A critical introduction. Palgrave.
- Hart, Christopher. "Argumentation meets adapted cognition: Manipulation in media discourse on immigration." *Journal of pragmatics* 59 (2013): 200-209.
- Hawthorne, Hannah. "Effective Interventions in Education: Types and Examples." *The Hub* | *High Speed Training* (blog), September 15, 2023. https://www.highspeedtraining.co.uk/hub/effective-interventions-in-education/.
- Helfer, Florian. 2021."(Post-) colonial Myths in German History Textbooks, 1989–2015." *German Politics and Society* 39, no. 1 (2021): 79-99.
- Hobsbawm, Eric J., and David J. Kertzer. "Ethnicity and nationalism in Europe today." Anthropology today 8, no. 1 (1992): 3-8.
- Il Manifesto. 2018. "Amnesty: «Dal Centrodestra Frasi Di Odio e Razzismo»". Il Manifesto. February 22, 2018. <a href="https://ilmanifesto.it/dal-centrodestra-frasi-di-odio-e-razzismo">https://ilmanifesto.it/dal-centrodestra-frasi-di-odio-e-razzismo</a>.
- Juang, Linda P., Miriam Schwarzenthal, Tuğçe Aral, and Sharleen Pevec.2022. "Youth experiences of racism and family ethnic-racial socialization in Germany: What we (don't) know." *Infant and Child Development* 31, no. 1 (2022): e2301.

- Klayman, Joshua. "Varieties of confirmation bias." *Psychology of learning and motivation* 32 (1995): 385-418.
- Knio, Karim. "Why and how ontology matters: A cartography of neoliberalism (s) and neoliberalization (s)." *Journal for The Theory of Social Behaviour* 53, no. 2 (2023): 160-182.
- Korostelina, Karina. 2008."History education and social identity." *Identity: an International Journal of Theory and research* 8, no. 1 (2008): 25-45.
- Lancellotti, Armando. "Il colonialismo degli 'italiani brava gente." Scenari, December 1, 2020. <a href="https://www.mimesis-scenari.it/2020/12/01/il-colonialismo-degli-italiani-brava-gente/">https://www.mimesis-scenari.it/2020/12/01/il-colonialismo-degli-italiani-brava-gente/</a>.
- "La scuola" Liceo Majorana, accessed September 3rd, 2023. <a href="https://www.liceomajorana.edu.it/la-scuola/">https://www.liceomajorana.edu.it/la-scuola/</a>
- Leone, Giovanna, and Tiziana Mastrovito.2010. "Learning about our shameful past: A socio-psychological analysis of present-day historical narratives of Italian colonial wars." *International Journal of Conflict and Violence (IJCV)* 4, no. 1 (2010): 11-27.
- Leoni, Giuliano, and Andrea Tappi. "Pagine perse. Il colonialismo nei manuali di storia dal dopoguerra a oggi." *Zapruder* 23 (2010): 154-167.
- Licata, Laurent, and Chiara Volpato. "Introduction: Collective memories of colonial violence." *International Journal of Conflict and Violence (IJCV)* 4, no. 1 (2010): 4-10.
- Liu, James H., and Denis J. Hilton. 2005. "How the past weighs on the present: Social representations of history and their role in identity politics." *British Journal of Social Psychology* 44, no. 4 (2005): 537-556.
- Lombardi-Diop, Cristina and Caterina Romeo.2012. "Paradigms of Postcoloniality in Contemporary Italy" in Postcolonial Italy Challenging National Homogeneity, edited by Lombardi-Diop, Cristina, Caterina Romeo (1- 30). New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Lombardi-Diop, Cristina, and Caterina Romeo. 2014. "Il postcoloniale italiano. Costruzione di un paradigma." *L'Italia postcoloniale* (2014): 1-38.
- Lombardi-Diop, Cristina, and Caterina Romeo. 2016. "Oltre l'Italia: Riflessioni sul Presente e il Futuro del Postcoloniale." rom the European South: A Transdisciplinary Journal of Postcolonial Humanities 1.
- LSE.2020. "In Plain Sight: Black Lives Matter and Italy's Colonial Past." 2020. LSE International History. October 5, 2020. <a href="https://blogs.lse.ac.uk/lseih/2020/08/25/in-plain-sight-black-lives-matter-and-italys-colonial-past/">https://blogs.lse.ac.uk/lseih/2020/08/25/in-plain-sight-black-lives-matter-and-italys-colonial-past/</a>

- Luke, Carmen, Suzanne De Castell, and Allan Luke. "Beyond criticism: The authority of the school text." *Curriculum Inquiry* 13, no. 2 (1983): 111-127.
- Marcoski. 2017. "Extracomunitari, immigrati, migranti, espatriati DINAMOpress." DINAMOpress. November 22, 2017. https://www.dinamopress.it/news/extracomunitari-immigrati-migranti-espatriati/%20.
- McKimmie, Blake M.2015. "Cognitive dissonance in groups." *Social and Personality Psychology Compass* 9, no. 4 (2015): 202-212.
- Mellino, Miguel. 2012."De-provincializing Italy: Notes on race, racialization, and Italy's coloniality." In *Postcolonial Italy: Challenging National Homogeneity*, pp. 83-99. New York: Palgrave Macmillan US, 2012.
- Metin, Irem, and Selin Metin Camgoz.2011. "The advances in the history of cognitive dissonance theory." *International Journal of Humanities and Social Science* 1, no. 6 (2011): 131-136.
- Ministero dell'Istruzione e del Merito. "Scuola di Secondo Grado". Accessed June 23, 2023. https://www.miur.gov.it/scuola-secondaria-di-secondo-grado
- Ministero dell'Istruzione e del Merito.2012. "Indicazioni nazionali per il curricolo di infanzia e del primo ciclo di istruzione". Accessed June 23, 2023.https://www.miur.gov.it/documents/20182/51310/DM+254\_2012.pdf
- Mycock, Andrew. 2017." After empire: The politics of history education in a post-colonial world." *Palgrave handbook of research in historical culture and education* (2017): 391-410.
- Natella, Andrea. 2015. "Extracomunitari, immigrati, migranti, espatriati". PressDinamo. September 7th, 2015. <a href="https://www.dinamopress.it/news/extracomunitari-immigrati-migranti-espatriati/">https://www.dinamopress.it/news/extracomunitari-immigrati-migranti-espatriati/</a>
- Novati, Giampaolo Calchi. "Oltremare. Storia dell'espansione coloniale italiana." (2003): 136-138.
- Pasolini, Pier Paolo, and Alfonso Berardinelli. 1975. Scritti Corsari. Milano: Garzanti.
- Pohl, Rüdiger, ed. Cognitive illusions: A handbook on fallacies and biases in thinking, judgement and memory. Psychology Press, 2004.
- Redazione Su La Testa. 2022. "La rimozione del colonialismo dall'immaginario italiano." *Su La Testa* (blog). April 20, 2022. Accessed June 23, 2023. <a href="https://www.sulatesta.net/la-rimozione-del-colonialismo-dallimmaginario-italiano/">https://www.sulatesta.net/la-rimozione-del-colonialismo-dallimmaginario-italiano/</a>.

- Rydgren, Jens. "The power of the past: A contribution to a cognitive sociology of ethnic conflict." *Sociological Theory* 25, no. 3 (2007): 225-244.
- Roma Capitale. Sito Istituzionale in Welcome. Consultato l'11 agosto 2023.

  <a href="https://webmain.comune.roma.it/web-resources/cms/documents/2">https://webmain.comune.roma.it/web-resources/cms/documents/2</a> Pop straniera 2019 Rapporto.pdf
- Santoni, Simona. 2020. "Matteo Salvini: da Mattarella ai migranti, le 5 frasi shock." *Panorama*, March 2, 2020. <a href="https://www.panorama.it/news/matteo-salvini-frasi-shock">https://www.panorama.it/news/matteo-salvini-frasi-shock</a>.
- Simeoni, Valentina, and Valentina Simeoni. 2021. "Retorica dell'immigrazione in Italia: la costruzione mediatica dello straniero." *Le Nius*, October. <a href="https://www.lenius.it/retorica-dellimmigrazione-in-italia/">https://www.lenius.it/retorica-dellimmigrazione-in-italia/</a>.
- Sim, Julius. "Collecting and analysing qualitative data: issues raised by the focus group." *Journal of advanced nursing* 28, no. 2 (1998): 345-352.
- Seixas, Peter. "Conceptualizing the growth of historical understanding." *The handbook of education and human development: New models of learning, teaching and schooling* (1998): 733-750.
- Solano, Giacomo. 2014 "Da extracomunitario a clandestino: l'immigrato nei discorsi dei media." *Media e migrazioni. Etica, estetica e politica del discorso umanitario* (2014): 109-123.
- Triulzi, Alessandro. 2006. "Displacing the colonial event: Hybrid memories of postcolonial Italy." *Interventions* 8, no. 3 (2006): 430-443.
- Tuttitalia.it ."Cittadini Stranieri 2021 Roma". Consultato l'11 agosto 2023. https://www.tuttitalia.it/lazio/33-roma/statistiche/cittadini-stranieri-2021/
- Unangst, Lisa, and Ana M. Martínez Alemán. 2021. "Coloniality in the German higher education system: Implications for policy and institutional practice." *Social Inclusion* 9, no. 3 (2021): 142-153.
- Wallis, John Joseph. 2017. "What Institutions Are: The difference between Social Facts, Norms, and Institutions and their associated rules and enforcement." *Maryland: University of Maryland* (2017).
- Wertsch, James V. "Narrative tools of history and identity." *Culture & psychology* 3, no. 1 (1997): 5-20.
- Wickens, Christopher D., and C. Melody Carswell. "Information processing." *Handbook of human factors and ergonomics* (2021): 114-158.

# Appendix list:

Appendix A: Questionnaire for focus groups

Appendix B: Index of textbook, Chapter 1, Section 1.5. "Le Carte della Storia. Spazi e Tempi del mondo. Dal Novecento ad Oggi"

	3° volume Glossario	Aula Virtuale Mappe
4. IL	PRIMO DOPOGUERRA	4
Арр	rofondimenti multimediali	
	esi: la Rivoluzione Russa	
3.8.	Lo stato comunista - Nep	
3.7.	Il comunismo di guerra	
3.6.	Dalla "guerra civile" alla nascit	
3.5.	Il governo di Lenin e l'organizz	
3.4.	Il rientro di Lenin	
3.3.	La Repubblica	3
3.2.	La rivoluzione di febbraio	
3.1.	Una società anacronistica	
3. LA	RIVOLUZIONE RUSSA	
Арр	rofondimenti	
Sint	esi: la prima guerra mondiale	
2.5.	La disfatta di Caporetto e concl	usione del conflitto3
2.4.	Il 1917 e la "svolta"	2
2.3.	Dalla guerra di movimento alla	guerra di posizione2
interv	entisti e neutralisti	
2.2.	L'Italia verso la guerra: dal "P	
2.1.	L'avvio della "Grande Guerra"	
2. LA	PRIMA GUERRA MONDIAI	E
App	rofondimenti	
Sint	esi: L'Europa all'inizio del 1900	
1.5.	La politica estera e l'impresa lib	
1.4.	La politica economica e la polit	ica interna1
1.3.	L'Italia e l'età giolittiana	1
Naz	ionalismo, razzismo	
	olo delle donne, le suffragette	
1.2.	Lo scenario culturale e politico	
1.1.	Nasce la società di massa	
	ENARIO EUROPEO ALL'INI	7.1C) 1)F.1. 1900

Appendix C: Index of textbook, Chapter 8, Section 8.8. "Le Carte della Storia. Spazi e Tempi del mondo. Dal Novecento ad Oggi"

8.2.	La fase legalitaria84
8.3.	La dittatura fascista87
8.4.	Gli strumenti del consenso popolare88
8.5.	I Patti lateranensi89
8.6.	Economia dello Stato fascista90
8.7.	Un totalitarismo "imperfetto"91
8.8.	La guerra coloniale e l'Impero91
8.9.	L'antifascismo93
Sint	tesi: il fascismo94
Арр	profondimenti96
	NASCITA DEL NAZISMO97
9.1.	1
9.2.	Adolf Hitler
9.3.	Streseman e il governo di transizione
9.4.	La crisi della Repubblica di Weimar
9.5.	La costituzione del terzo Reich
9.6.	L'antisemitismo
9.7.	I Lager
Sint	tesi: il nazismo 108
Арр	profondimenti
10. LA	SECONDA GUERRA MONDIALE112
Le c	cause della Seconda Guerra Mondiale112
10.1.	L'invasione della Polonia – alleanza Germania-Russia .112
10.1.	
10.2.	-
10.3.	
10.4.	-
	alia e la guerra in Russia
10.6.	Thing and the contract of the complete
Hitl	ler dichiara guerra agli Stati Uniti
10.7.	8 F
LO S	sbarco alleato in Sicilia
INDICE	3° volume Glossario Aula Virtuale Mappe

Appendix C: Index of textbook, Chapter 13. "Le Carte della Storia. Spazi e Tempi del mondo. Dal Novecento ad Oggi"

	ALIA: DALLA DEMOCRAZIA CRISTIANA AGLI
12.1.	Gli anni del Dopoguerra
12.2.	La nascita della Repubblica – forze politiche166
12.3.	Dal referendum alla nascita della Repubblica
12.4.	La nostra Costituzione169
12.5.	I partiti e la ricerca della stabilità170
12.6.	I sindacati e i governi di centro
12.7.	Una società che si trasforma – boom economico172
12.8.	La Chiesa e l'evento del Concilio Vaticano II172
12.9.	Il fenomeno dell'emigrazione interna
12.10.	I governi di centro-sinistra
12.11.	La contestazione del Sessantotto
12.12.	La stagione del terrorismo e delle "stragi"
12.13.	Aldo Moro e il compromesso storico
12.14.	Gli anni ottanta
12.15.	La Chiesa ed il pontificato di Karol Wojtyla185
	si: l'Italia del secondo dopoguerra180
	ofondimenti
	TÀ DELLA DECOLONIZZAZIONE190
13.1.	Il Medio Oriente
13.2.	Lo Stato di Israele
13.3.	L'India e il ruolo di Gandhi
13.4.	Sud-est asiatico
13.5.	L'Indocina
13.6.	L'Africa del Maghreb
13.7.	L'Africa nera
13.8.	Il Sudafrica
13.9.	America latina
	si: processo di decolonizzazione
	ofondimenti
14. DOP	O IL CROLLO DEL "MURO DI BERLINO"20
INDICE 3	° volume Glossario Aula Virtuale Mappe

Appendix D: Questionnaire guiding the discussion of the focus groups.

# Introduction (warm up questions)

a) Come vi tenete informati riguardo alle notizie giornaliere?

Ask how they keep themselves informed about daily events/news

b) Che piattaforme usate per tenervi

informati?

Ask what platform they use to do so

#### PART A

#### Understanding Prior Knowledge

- 1. Cosa sapete riguardo al passato coloniale dell'Italia? Lo avete appreso in classe oppure attraverso altre fonti/ discusso in altri contesti? (Ex in famiglia, nei media) What do you know about Italy's colonial past? Have you learned about it in school or through other sources/ discussed it somewhere else (family, media etc)?
- 2. Imperialismo e colonizazzione: fatemene un riassunto a parole vostre spiengandomelo brevemente.
  - Imperialism and colonialization: summarize it in your own words.
- 3. Riguardo l'Italia? Quale è stato il suo ruolo nel colonialismo, se lo paragoniamo a gli altri paesi?
  - What about Italy? What was its role in the colonialization period compared to the rest?
- 4. Nella società italiana di oggi, quali sono le consequenze/eredità, negative e positive, del colonialimo Italiano?
  - What are the lasting legacies in today's society, both positive and negative, of Italy's colonial rule?
- 5. Come definiresti la tua comprensione/percezione generale riguardo ai flussi migratori che arrivano in Italia?
  - How would you describe your general perception or understanding of the current inflows of immigrants into Italy?
- 6. Quali elementi caratterizzano (distinguono) un' Italiano vs un immigrato (sociale, fisico)? Descrivetemelo.

What characteristics define and distinguish an Italian vs Immigrant?

#### PART B

### After Knowledge intervention

- 1. Qual è stato il vostro principale punto di riflessione? What is your main takeaway?
- 2. Avete imparato qualcosa di nuovo? Se si, spiegatemi cosa? Se no spiegatemi come mai?
  - Did you learn anything new? If yes explain what? If not explain how come?
- 3. Vi trovate in accordo/disaccordo nel modo in cui gli italiani vengono descritti nella lettura? Con cosa nello specifico siete in accord/disaccordo?

- Do you agree/disagree with how Italians have been depicted in the text? With what specifically do you agree/disagree?
- 4. La lettura tende ad evidenziare questo odio o senso di superiorità basato sulla razza. É un elemento che è possibile ancora vedere/riscontrare quando si parla di immigrati dall'Africa? Si/no, perche?
  - The reading highlights this hate/ sense of superiority based on race. Do we still see it when it comes to immigration from Africa? Yes/no, why?
- 5. Questa lettura (vi ha fatto cambiare idea o riflettere) ha messo in discussione qualche idea/ credo/ preconcetto sull'argomento, che avevate prima di leggerla? Has the reading challenged any ideas that you had prior to this?
- 6. Nel testo si parla di propaganda che fomenta questo odio per la diversità verso chi è diverso/proveniente dalle colonie. Oggigiorno che parallelismi possiamo fare tra colonizzati e immigrati, in generale? Quali sono delle caratteristiche comuni? In the text it talks about the propaganda that fuels the hate for diversity for the colonized. Nowadays what parallelism can we draw between colonized and immigrant? What are some common features?
- 7. Credi che ci siano insegnamenti importanti che possiamo imparare dalla storia coloniale dell'Italia che ritieni possano essere applicati per affrontare le sfide contemporanee/ problemi legati all'immigrazione e all'integrazione culturale?
  - Are there any lessons or insights from Italy's colonial history that you believe could be applied to address contemporary challenges related to immigration and cultural integration?